
Agenda - Health and Social Care Committee
Meeting Venue:
Committee Room 3 - Senedd
Meeting date: Thursday, 3 December 
2015
Meeting time: 09.15

For further information contact:
Llinos Madeley
Committee Clerk
0300 200 6565 
SeneddHealth@Assembly.Wales

1 Introductions, apologies and substitutions
(09.15)  

2 Follow-up inquiry into the performance of Ambulance Services in 
Wales: evidence session 1
(09.15 - 10.00) (Pages 1 - 58) 

Darron Dupree, UNISON Cymru Wales 
Nathan Holman, GMB
Richard Munn, Unite the Union 
Lisa Turnbull, Royal College of Nursing 
 

3 Follow-up inquiry into the performance of Ambulance Services in 
Wales: evidence session 2
(10.00 - 10.45) (Pages 59 - 69) 

Stephen Harrhy, Chief Ambulance Services Commissioner
Professor Siobhan McClelland, Chair – Emergency Ambulance Services Committee

Break (10.45 - 11.00) 

------------------------ Public Document Pack ------------------------



4 Follow-up inquiry into the performance of Ambulance Services in 
Wales: evidence session 3
(11.00 - 11.45) (Pages 70 - 85) 

Adam Cairns, Cardiff and Vale University Health Board
Allison Williams, Cwm Taf University Health Board

5 Follow-up inquiry into the performance of Ambulance Services in 
Wales: evidence session 4
(11.45 - 12.30) (Pages 86 - 101) 

Mick Giannasi, Welsh Ambulance Services NHS Trust
Tracy Myhill, Welsh Ambulance Services NHS Trust

6 Papers to note
(12.30)  

Minutes of the meetings held on 19 and 25 November 2015
(Pages 102 - 124) 

Fourth Assembly Finance Committee Legacy: correspondence from the Finance 
Committee

(Pages 125 - 126) 
P-04-532 Improving specialised neuromuscular services in Wales: 
correspondence from the Petitions Committee

(Pages 127 - 128) 

7 Motion under Standing Order 17.42(vi) and (ix) to resolve to 
exclude the public from the remainder of this meeting
(12.30)  

8 Follow-up inquiry into the performance of Ambulance Services in 
Wales: consideration of evidence
(12.30 - 12.45)  

9 Fourth Assembly Committee Legacy: consideration of Finance 
Committee's legacy consultation
(12.45 - 12.50) (Pages 129 - 130) 



10 The Committee's forward work programme
(12.50-12.55) (Pages 131 - 138) 



Document is Restricted

Pack Page 1

Agenda Item 2By virtue of paragraph(s) vi of Standing Order 17.42



 

 

Bae Caerdydd 

Cardiff Bay 

CF99 1NA 

Ffôn / Tel: 0300 200 6354 

    E-bost / Email: SeneddIechyd@Cynulliad.Cymru/ 

SeneddHealth@Assembly.Wales  

Trydar / Twitter: @seneddiechyd / @seneddhealth 

Croesewir gohebiaeth yn y Gymraeg a’r Saesneg / We welcome correspondence in both English and Welsh 

 

Y Pwyllgor Iechyd a Gofal Cymdeithasol 

Health and Social Care Committee 

 

 

Dear Vaughan, 

Health and Social Care Committee: inquiry into the performance of the 

ambulance service in Wales 

I am writing to provide details of the outcomes arising from the Committee’s 

short inquiry on the above topic. 

As a Committee, we recognise that the emergency ambulance service plays a 

vital role in the provision of health services to the people of Wales. 

Individually, frontline ambulance service staff fulfil challenging roles to high 

standards, and provide help and support to people in times of need. However, 

overall, the response times achieved by the ambulance service are falling short 

of the levels of performance that the people of Wales rightly expect. 

You acknowledged this in your written statement of Monday 23 February 2015 

on the progress made to implement the recommendations of the McClelland 

Review, as did the Emergency Ambulance Services Committee, the Welsh 

Ambulance Services NHS Trust and local health boards when they gave oral 

evidence to us on Thursday 5 March 2015. 

We appreciate that significant work is taking place to bring about 

improvements in the performance of the ambulance service. However, we are 

not persuaded that progress is being made quickly enough to improve 

response times. We have identified a number of areas in which we believe that 

further progress is needed. These are set out in the annex to this letter. 

 

Vaughan Gething AM  

Deputy Minister for Health 

31 March 2015 

Pack Page 16

mailto:SeneddIechyd@Cynulliad.Cymru
mailto:SeneddHealth@Assembly.Wales
http://gov.wales/about/cabinet/cabinetstatements/2015/mccellandreview/?lang=en
http://www.senedd.assembly.wales/documents/s37537/05%20March%202015.html?CT=2
http://www.senedd.assembly.wales/documents/s37537/05%20March%202015.html?CT=2


 

We intend to follow up our inquiry later this year to assess the progress that 

has been made. We will also hold the Emergency Ambulance Services 

Committee, the Welsh Ambulance Services NHS Trust and local health boards 

to account on the assurances and commitments they gave us during their oral 

evidence. We expect to see tangible improvements. We believe that a regular 

focus on ambulance services should be maintained until the Assembly can be 

confident that services have improved reliably and sustainably, and intend to 

make a recommendation to this effect in our legacy report. 

I am sure that you will share our concerns about the recent performance of 

the ambulance service in relation to response times, and our desire to see 

rapid and sustained improvement. I hope that you will work with those 

responsible for the commissioning and delivery of ambulance services in 

Wales to drive up performance across the unscheduled care system, and 

strengthen public confidence in this vital service. 

I am copying this letter to those who gave evidence to our inquiry, and to the 

Chief Executives of all local health boards in Wales. 

Yours sincerely, 

 

David Rees AM 

Chair, Health and Social Care Committee 

cc Stephen Harrhy, Chief Ambulance Services Commissioner 

Professor Siobhan McClelland, Chair, Emergency Ambulance Services Committee 

Mick Giannasi, Chair, Welsh Ambulance Services NHS Trust 

Tracy Myhill, Chief Executive, Welsh Ambulance Services NHS Trust 

Paul Roberts, Chief Executive, Abertawe Bro Morgannwg University Health Board 

Judith Paget, Chief Executive, Aneurin Bevan University Health Board 

Trevor Purt, Chief Executive, Betsi Cadwaladr University Health Board 

Adam Cairns, Chief Executive, Cardiff and Vale University Health Board 

Allison Williams, Chief Executive, Cwm Taf University Health Board 

Steve Moore, Chief Executive, Hywel Dda University Health Board 

Carol Shillabeer, Chief Executive, Powys Teaching Health Board 

 

Pack Page 17



 

1 

Annex 

Performance indicators 

1. The Chief Ambulance Services Commissioner (“the Commissioner”), the 

Chair of the Emergency Ambulance Services Committee (“EASC”), the Welsh 

Ambulance Services NHS Trust (“WAST”) and local health boards all sought to 

reassure the Committee that steps are being taken to improve the 

performance of ambulance services in Wales. While the Committee welcomes 

many of these steps, it cannot ignore the disparity between the assurances 

given in evidence and the performance against key targets. 

2. There has been much debate about whether the current eight-minute 

response target for Category A emergency calls takes sufficient account of 

patient outcomes. Both the Commissioner and the Chair of the EASC agreed 

that the existing eight-minute Category A target needs evidence-based 

review. They stated that the review should be clinically-led, engage the public, 

improve clinical outcomes and patient experience, and result in value for 

money.1 

3. In a recent statement, the Deputy Minister for Health indicated that the 

Welsh Government intended to improve the contextual data available by 

releasing monthly information about Red 1 emergency calls.2 The Minister for 

Health and Social Services has indicated that, following the announcement of 

new ambulance response time pilots in England, and on the basis of 

representations made to him by WAST, he intends to work with clinicians to 

develop and test new ambulance response measures for Wales. This work will 

be informed by the approach taken in England.3 

                                       
1 National Assembly for Wales, Health and Social Care Committee, RoP [paras 207-11], 5 

March 2015 

2 Welsh Government, Vaughan Gething (Deputy Minister for Health), Progress against 

McClelland Review recommendations, Cabinet Written Statement, 23 February 2015. Red 1 

emergency calls relate to patients classified as having the most life-threatening conditions. 

3 National Assembly for Wales, Health and Social Care Committee, HSC(4)-09-15 Paper 1 

Paper from the Minister for Health and Social Services, 19 March 2015 Pack Page 18

http://www.senedd.assembly.wales/documents/s37537/05%20March%202015.html?CT=2
http://gov.wales/about/cabinet/cabinetstatements/2015/mccellandreview/?lang=en
http://gov.wales/about/cabinet/cabinetstatements/2015/mccellandreview/?lang=en
http://www.senedd.assembly.wales/documents/s37704/HSC4-09-15%20Paper%201.html?CT=2
http://www.senedd.assembly.wales/documents/s37704/HSC4-09-15%20Paper%201.html?CT=2


2 

4. The Committee welcomes these steps. It believes that any new 

ambulance response measures for Wales must be evidence-based, and must 

take into account patient outcomes and patient experiences. The Committee 

recognises that if measures differ, it may impact on the ability to benchmark 

performance across the UK. However, it expects that, where necessary, the 

Minister and Deputy Minister will seek to work with their counterparts across 

the UK to achieve comparability. 

5. It is clear to the Committee that, at present, response time performance 

is not of a sufficient standard. While consideration should be given to 

improving the way in which performance is measured, focus should not be 

diverted from improving response times, optimising patient outcomes, and 

ensuring that patients receive the services appropriate to their needs. 

Conclusion: The Emergency Ambulance Services Committee, the Welsh 

Ambulance Services NHS Trust and local health boards must work together 

urgently to improve emergency ambulance response times and optimise 

patient outcomes. 

Performance measures must be clinically appropriate and take sufficient 

account of patient outcomes. Therefore the work announced by the Minister 

for Health and Social Services to review ambulance response measures should 

be rapid, clinically-led, informed by best practice and designed to enable 

benchmarking across the UK where possible. 

Accountability and engagement 

6. Following the publication of the Strategic Review of Welsh Ambulance 

Services4 in 2013 (“the McClelland Review”), there have been significant 

changes to the arrangements for the commissioning and delivery of 

ambulance services. The Committee welcomes the establishment of the EASC 

and the post of Commissioner, as mechanisms to support health boards to 

work together to jointly plan and secure the provision of national ambulance 

services which can meet their local needs. However, these arrangements will 

                                       
4 McClelland, S., A Strategic Review of Welsh Ambulance Services, April 2013 Pack Page 19

http://wales.gov.uk/docs/dhss/publications/130625ambulanceen.pdf


3 

only make a difference to the services received by people in Wales if they work 

effectively. The Committee has requested that EASC provides a copy of the 

interim agreement with health boards for 2014-15, and, once agreed, the 

Commissioning Quality and Delivery Framework which will replace it. 

7. In their evidence to the Committee, witnesses spoke about the need for a 

“whole system approach” to unscheduled care, in which local health boards 

take responsibility for the patient pathway from emergency response to 

discharge.5 The Committee agrees that this is the right approach, but also 

shares the concerns of Professor McClelland,6 Chair of EASC, and Stephen 

Harrhy,7 the Commissioner, about the pace of change. 

8. The Committee is particularly concerned about the variability in the levels 

of engagement of different health boards with WAST, and the extent to which 

this may be a barrier to improvements in the performance of ambulance 

services. Professor McClelland outlined the challenges for health boards, 

saying that the new accountability arrangements had required them to 

“change the way that they think and work”.8 

9. Tracy Myhill, the Chief Executive of WAST, acknowledged that 

engagement has varied between health boards. She said that some health 

boards were “exceptional”, but particular hospitals present specific challenges, 

due in part to the different services they provide, and to their approaches to 

patient handovers.9 

10. The Committee welcomes the recognition from health boards, WAST and 

EASC that there needs to be a whole system approach. To be effective, this 

approach needs the sustained and consistent engagement and involvement of 

health boards. The Committee heard from the Chief Executive of WAST that 

she has frequent contact with health board chief executives and that they are 

                                       
5 National Assembly for Wales, Health and Social Care Committee, RoP [paras 217 and 219], 5 

March 2015 

6 Ibid, RoP [paras 217-8] 
7 Ibid, RoP [para 219] 
8 Ibid, RoP [para 269] 
9 Ibid, RoP [paras 372-384] Pack Page 20

http://www.senedd.assembly.wales/documents/s37537/05%20March%202015.html?CT=2
http://www.senedd.assembly.wales/documents/s37537/05%20March%202015.html?CT=2
http://www.senedd.assembly.wales/documents/s37537/05%20March%202015.html?CT=2
http://www.senedd.assembly.wales/documents/s37537/05%20March%202015.html?CT=2
http://www.senedd.assembly.wales/documents/s37537/05%20March%202015.html?CT=2


4 

working together to improve performance.10 However, it also heard from 

Professor McClelland that it is only within recent months that there has been 

“a ratcheting up of that commitment and of that engagement”.11 

11. The Committee was not persuaded that health boards, when considering 

changes to their local services, take sufficient account of the impact on WAST. 

Mick Giannasi, the Chair of WAST, reported that there had been a “sea change” 

and that health boards were now more willing to engage with WAST at an early 

stage when considering service changes.12 This was echoed by the WAST Chief 

Executive, who indicated that WAST was a “fundamental part” of the 

development of plans for local service change.13 For example, she indicated 

that WAST had been involved in discussions before the Betsi Cadwaladr 

University Health Board made a decision to suspend consultant-led maternity 

care at Ysbyty Glan Clwyd.14 While the Committee acknowledges that Ms 

Myhill was involved in discussions, it was concerned to note that these 

discussions only took place the day before the Board’s meeting.15 To ensure 

that the impact on ambulance services may be properly considered, WAST 

must be involved in discussions at a sufficiently early stage. 

Conclusion: To maintain momentum and work towards a whole system 

approach to unscheduled care, all health boards must be fully engaged with 

the work of the Welsh Ambulance Services NHS Trust through the work of the 

Emergency Ambulance Services Committee on a national level, and directly 

with the Trust on a local level. 

Health boards must take due account of the impact on the Welsh Ambulance 

Services NHS Trust when developing new services or considering making 

changes to existing services. Health boards must also ensure that the Welsh 

                                       
10 National Assembly for Wales, Health and Social Care Committee, RoP [para 372], 5 March 

2015 

11 Ibid, RoP [para 269] 
12 Ibid, RoP [para 403] 
13 Ibid, RoP [para 406] 
14 Ibid, RoP [paras 411-31] 
15 Ibid, Letter from Chief Executive of the Welsh Ambulance Services NHS Trust, 18 March 

2015 Pack Page 21

http://www.senedd.assembly.wales/documents/s37537/05%20March%202015.html?CT=2
http://www.senedd.assembly.wales/documents/s37537/05%20March%202015.html?CT=2
http://www.senedd.assembly.wales/documents/s37537/05%20March%202015.html?CT=2
http://www.senedd.assembly.wales/documents/s37537/05%20March%202015.html?CT=2
http://www.senedd.assembly.wales/documents/s37537/05%20March%202015.html?CT=2
http://www.senedd.assembly.wales/documents/s38258/PASAI%2005%20Welsh%20Ambulance%20Services%20NHS%20Trust.pdf


5 

Ambulance Services NHS Trust is involved in discussions at a sufficiently early 

stage to enable it to give proper consideration to the impact on its services. 

Leadership, organisational change and staffing 

12. The Committee recognises that the problems faced by WAST are 

longstanding, and that the current Chief Executive is relatively new in post. It 

acknowledges the work that she has undertaken to date, and is encouraged by 

the practical actions she is taking to provide strong leadership and bring 

about organisational, service and cultural change. These steps include 

improving relationships with trades unions, and taking steps to reduce staff 

sickness and improve staff appraisals and development.16 This process of 

change management must continue, to ensure that staff feel supported and 

empowered to deliver this vital service. The Committee has requested a copy 

of the WAST improvement action plan for the coming year to inform its follow 

up work later this year. 

13. The Committee heard evidence of apparent inconsistencies in the terms 

and conditions for ambulance staff across Wales, particularly in relation to 

staff rosters. It is concerned that that inconsistencies, imbalances and 

inefficiencies in staff rostering arrangements may be impacting on the service 

received by patients, and thereby on their outcomes. Every panel of witnesses 

cited addressing mismatches between current staff rosters and the anticipated 

peaks and troughs in demand for ambulance services as being key to driving 

up performance.17 

14. The Chief Executive of WAST reported that in some areas of Wales rosters 

have been reviewed frequently, whereas in other parts of the country rosters 

have not been reviewed for some years.18 The Committee welcomes the 

progress outlined by Ms Myhill in the agreement of revised rosters in some 

areas of Wales, but urges timely agreement of rosters in the remaining areas. 

Once this is complete, the Committee expects that arrangements will be put in 

                                       
16 National Assembly for Wales, Health and Social Care Committee, RoP [para 309-12], 5 

March 2015 

17 Ibid, RoP [paras 227, 318 and 574] 
18 Ibid, RoP [para 352] Pack Page 22

http://www.senedd.assembly.wales/documents/s37537/05%20March%202015.html?CT=2
http://www.senedd.assembly.wales/documents/s37537/05%20March%202015.html?CT=2
http://www.senedd.assembly.wales/documents/s37537/05%20March%202015.html?CT=2


6 

place to prevent a similar mismatch between staff rosters and anticipated 

peaks and troughs in demand in future. 

Conclusion: Agreement must be reached between the Welsh Ambulance 

Services NHS Trust, trades unions and staff at the earliest opportunity on 

revised staff rosters in those parts of Wales for which revised arrangements 

are not yet in place. The Welsh Ambulance Services NHS Trust must, working 

in partnership with trades unions and staff, put in place arrangements to 

review staff rosters at appropriate intervals to avoid future mismatches 

between staffing and anticipated demand. 

Non-emergency patient transport  

15. Ms Myhill indicated that an ongoing modernisation project was expected 

to make recommendations by October 2015 on the provision of non-

emergency patient transport services. She noted that she did not anticipate 

that WAST would continue to provide all of those services,19 but that it would 

“need to work with our partners to determine the best way to give our patients 

the most optimum transport when they need it”.20 

16. The Committee recognises the importance of non-emergency patient 

transport services, and their role in meeting patients’ clinical needs. There is, 

however, a clear distinction between these services and emergency ambulance 

services. The Committee believes that WAST’s priority must be the provision 

of emergency ambulance services. It endorses recommendation 2 of the 

McClelland review, that non-emergency patient transport services (patient 

courier services) should be disaggregated from emergency ambulance 

services.21 

                                       
19 The Committee’s original letter (published on 31 March 2015) stated incorrectly that Ms 

Myhill “did not anticipate that WAST would continue to provide those services”. A corrected 

version of the letter was published on 9 April 2015.   

20 National Assembly for Wales, Health and Social Care Committee, RoP [para 386], 5 March 

2015 

21 McClelland, S., A Strategic Review of Welsh Ambulance Services, April 2013, pp 65 Pack Page 23

http://www.senedd.assembly.wales/documents/s37537/05%20March%202015.html?CT=2
http://wales.gov.uk/docs/dhss/publications/130625ambulanceen.pdf


7 

Conclusion: The Welsh Ambulance Services NHS Trust must prioritise 

emergency ambulance services provision. Work is required to identify 

appropriate mechanisms for the provision of non-emergency patient transport 

services, and to disaggregate those services from the Trust in accordance with 

recommendation 2 of the McClelland Review. The Trust must establish a clear 

plan for the disaggregation, with identified timescales and costs. The 

Committee expects to receive an update on this plan before it follows up its 

inquiry later this year. 

Patient handover 

17. The written evidence provided by WAST before the evidence sessions 

showed that in 2014, 40,000 hours were lost as a result of delays of more 

than 15 minutes to patient handovers between ambulances and accident and 

emergency departments. This represented an increase from approximately 

35,000 hours in 2013 and 32,000 hours in 2012.22 Ms Myhill told the 

Committee that a new handover policy, which in her view “puts teeth into that 

turnaround process” had been agreed to improve the timeliness with which 

patients are assessed by the emergency department.23 Adam Cairns, of Cardiff 

and Vale University Health Board reported significant improvement in the 

handover performance in his health board, and said that he expected the new 

handover policy to “add further impetus”.24 

18. The Committee welcomes the new policy to reduce delays to patient 

handovers and improve the interface between emergency ambulance services 

and emergency units. If the policy is to be successful, it must be consistently 

implemented across Wales. Mr Cairns indicated that as the health board chief 

executive-lead on unscheduled care he has led on work to identify good 

practice in each health board. A report will be published in April 2015, and 

                                       
22 National Assembly for Wales, Health and Social Care Committee, HSC(4)-07-15 Paper 4 

Evidence from the Welsh Ambulance Services NHS Trust, 5 March 2015 

23 Ibid, RoP [para 384], 5 March 2015 

24 Ibid, RoP [paras 457-8] Pack Page 24

http://www.senedd.assembly.wales/documents/s37153/HSC4-07-15%20Paper%204.html?CT=2
http://www.senedd.assembly.wales/documents/s37153/HSC4-07-15%20Paper%204.html?CT=2
http://www.senedd.assembly.wales/documents/s37537/05%20March%202015.html?CT=2
http://www.senedd.assembly.wales/documents/s37537/05%20March%202015.html?CT=2


8 

during the next quarter Mr Cairns will visit each health board area again to 

review progress and assess consistency.25 

Conclusion: The Emergency Ambulance Services Committee, the Welsh 

Ambulance Services NHS Trust and local health boards must work together to 

reduce the number of hours lost as a result of patient handover delays. The 

new handover policy must be implemented consistently across Wales, and any 

issues identified in the follow up visits made by the chief executive-lead on 

unscheduled care must be resolved swiftly. 

Models of deployment 

19. Presently, the ambulance dispatched to a particular incident is the 

ambulance which is closest to that incident. This can result in ambulances 

being ‘pulled away’ from their home area for significant periods of time. In 

particular, clustering of ambulances in the areas closest to accident and 

emergency departments can cause delays for people requiring emergency 

ambulances in rural or more remote areas. 

20. The Chair of WAST explained that this deployment model seeks to 

address the immediate risks to those who have requested emergency 

assistance. He acknowledged that it did not take account of the “potential risk 

to people in communities who’ve not yet called the ambulance services”.26 The 

Committee heard that a pilot project was underway in Cwm Taf University 

Health Board to test the viability of a “return to footprint” model. Under this 

model, ambulances which travel out of their area are considered out of service 

for all but the most serious emergency calls until they have returned to their 

home footprints. Allison Williams, Chief Executive of Cwm Taf University 

Health Board, explained that an initial pilot over a 48-hour period had 

achieved significant improvements to ambulance response time performance. 

A more extensive pilot is now being undertaken.27 

                                       
25 Ibid, RoP [paras 460 and 555] 
26 National Assembly for Wales, Health and Social Care Committee, RoP [para 342], 5 March 

2015 

27 Ibid, RoP [paras 568-74] Pack Page 25

http://www.senedd.assembly.wales/documents/s37537/05%20March%202015.html?CT=2
http://www.senedd.assembly.wales/documents/s37537/05%20March%202015.html?CT=2
http://www.senedd.assembly.wales/documents/s37537/05%20March%202015.html?CT=2


9 

21. The Committee is concerned about ambulance clustering and the impact 

on more remote communities. It believes that urgent consideration should be 

given to identifying more suitable deployment models, using best practice 

from other parts of the UK. The Committee welcomes the return to footprint 

pilot, and believes that the approach should be explored and evaluated on a 

wider basis. 

Conclusion: The Chief Ambulance Services Commissioner, the Emergency 

Ambulance Services Committee and the Welsh Ambulance Services NHS Trust 

should urgently address the issue of ambulances being ‘pulled away’ from 

their areas. In doing so, they should seek to identify and learn from best 

practice across the UK.  

The ‘return to footprint’ pilot should be explored and evaluated on a wider 

basis as a priority. 

Frequent callers 

22. The Committee recognises that, in recent years, people are increasingly 

receiving care in their own homes or communities rather than residential 

homes or community hospital settings. 

23. WAST told the Committee that ambulance requests from “elderly frequent 

callers” had increased by 253 per cent in the last seven years.28 The 

Committee agrees with Professor McClelland29 and with local health board 

representatives30 that being taken by ambulance to an accident and 

emergency department may not always be the right way to respond to such 

calls. Health boards told the Committee that to respond to increased pressure 

on unscheduled care services in winter months, they were identifying 

alternative approaches for elderly frequent callers. These included “bed 

equivalents”, assessments in the community, and joint working with local 

authorities to provide rehabilitation teams. Allison Williams of Cwm Taf 

                                       
28 National Assembly for Wales, Health and Social Care Committee, HSC(4)-07-15 Paper 4 

Evidence from the Welsh Ambulance Services NHS Trust, 5 March 2015 

29 Ibid, RoP [para 213], 5 March 2015 

30 Ibid, RoP [paras 500-7] Pack Page 26

http://www.senedd.assembly.wales/documents/s37153/HSC4-07-15%20Paper%204.html?CT=2
http://www.senedd.assembly.wales/documents/s37153/HSC4-07-15%20Paper%204.html?CT=2
http://www.senedd.assembly.wales/documents/s37537/05%20March%202015.html?CT=2
http://www.senedd.assembly.wales/documents/s37537/05%20March%202015.html?CT=2


10 

University Health Board noted that there were areas of good practice across 

Wales, where the establishment of community alternatives were reducing 

admissions and achieving better patient outcomes.31 

Conclusion: In providing unscheduled care, health boards and the Welsh 

Ambulance Services NHS Trust must take account of the patient’s individual 

needs. Health boards and the Welsh Ambulance Services NHS Trust must 

ensure that assessment, care and treatment are provided in ways which meet 

the patient’s individual needs, and help them achieve their optimum outcome. 

This should include appropriate use of assessment, care and treatment 

provided in the community, as well as hospital-based provision. 

Anticipating demand for services 

24. The Commissioner emphasised the importance of understanding and 

predicting the likely demand for ambulance services for the commissioning 

and delivery of those services.32 The Committee is not persuaded that 

sufficient account has been taken, and is being taken, of long-standing and 

well-known demographic changes in the medium and longer term planning of 

emergency ambulance services. Health board representatives stated that each 

health board area had particular challenges. They reported that work was 

ongoing to predict the future demand for health services, including 

ambulance services, and to ensure that services were shaped appropriately. 

However, they acknowledged that the pace of their response had not been 

sufficient.33 

25. Ambulance response times must improve in the short term. However, if 

improvements in performance are to be sustainable in the medium and longer 

term, the planning and commissioning of services must be aligned to the 

likely demand for such services. This must include appropriate workforce 

planning and recruitment. The Committee accepts that predicting future 

                                       
31 Ibid, RoP [para 505] 
32 National Assembly for Wales, Health and Social Care Committee, RoP [para 222], 5 March 

2015 

33 Ibid, RoP [paras 490-5] Pack Page 27

http://www.senedd.assembly.wales/documents/s37537/05%20March%202015.html?CT=2
http://www.senedd.assembly.wales/documents/s37537/05%20March%202015.html?CT=2
http://www.senedd.assembly.wales/documents/s37537/05%20March%202015.html?CT=2


11 

demand is challenging, but health boards, EASC, and WAST must take account 

of anticipated demographic changes in their planning. This must be informed 

by sufficiently robust data collection and analysis, both of short term trends 

and longer term demographic changes. The Committee also believes that 

people have a responsibility to ensure that they only call for emergency 

assistance from an ambulance when it is necessary for them to do so. 

Conclusion: Ambulance services in the medium and longer term must be high 

performing, and aligned to demand. Therefore health boards, the Emergency 

Ambulance Services Committee and the Welsh Ambulance Services NHS Trust 

should undertake robust and effective forward planning which takes 

anticipated demographic changes into account. 

Pack Page 28



 

Vaughan Gething AC / AM 
Y Dirprwy Weinidog lechyd   
Deputy Minister for Health 
 

 

 

Bae Caerdydd • Cardiff Bay 

Caerdydd • Cardiff 

CF99 1NA 

English Enquiry Line  0845 010 3300 

Llinell Ymholiadau Cymraeg  0845 010 4400 

                Correspondence.Vaughan.Gething@wales.gsi.gov.uk 

Wedi’i argraffu ar bapur wedi’i ailgylchu (100%)                            Printed on 100% recycled paper 

 
Ein cyf/Our ref : SF/VG/1251/15 

 

 

David Rees AM 

Chair,  

Health and Social Care Committee 

National Assembly for Wales 

Cardiff Bay  

Cardiff 

CF99 1NA 

 

Dear David,   

Health and Social Care Committee: Inquiry into the performance of the ambulance 

service in Wales 

Thank you for your letter of 31 March in which you provide details of the Committee’s inquiry 

into the performance of the Welsh Ambulance Services NHS Trust (WAST).  

I welcome the Committee’s findings and the recognition of the progress made by all 

stakeholders since the publication of the McClelland Strategic Review of Welsh Ambulance 

Services (2013). I also acknowledge there is more work to be done to build on early 

progress and to inject pace into further embedding emergency ambulance services as a key 

part of the pre-hospital element of the unscheduled care system. 

Ambulance responsiveness has not been where health boards, the Emergency Ambulance 

Services Committee (EASC), WAST, the Welsh Government or the public want it to be over 

recent months. However, performance against the national eight-minute response time 

target over the recent winter period should be seen in the context of significant pressure on 

the emergency ambulance service culminating in a 24% increase in the most critical calls 

compared to January 2014.  

I have been encouraged by incremental improvements in category A and Red 1 

performance at a national level since December, although recognise there continues to be 

an unacceptable disparity at a local level. I note the committee’s concerns about the pace of 

improvement in response times, although it should be acknowledged, and has been widely 

accepted, that the majority of calls to the ambulance service do not require an eight minute 

6 May 2015 

Pack Page 29



response. The key factor should always be the quality of care for patients based on their 

clinical need. 

To this end, the clinical modernisation of emergency ambulance services to improve 

delivery of care has been a key element of the WAST strategic transformation programme 

which forms the Trust’s response to the McClelland review. It has resulted in the 

development of a number of innovative initiatives such as the ‘clinical desk’ in ambulance 

control, which is helping to ensure patients get the right response when contacting the 

ambulance service including healthcare advice and access to a range of alternative care 

services. 

I welcome your comments about the significant work being undertaken by stakeholders to 

deliver clearer lines of accountability through the establishment of EASC and the chief 

ambulance services commissioner role.  The Welsh Government will continue to monitor 

progress closely and work with Professor McClelland, Stephen Harrhy and WAST to ensure 

equitable, high-performing, safe and timely clinical emergency ambulance services are 

delivered to the people of Wales. 

Turning to the conclusions made by the committee, for ease, I will respond to them in 

numerical order. 

Conclusion 1 

The Emergency Ambulance Services Committee, the Welsh Ambulance Services NHS 
Trust and local health boards must work together urgently to improve emergency 
ambulance response times and optimise patient outcomes.  
 
Performance measures must be clinically appropriate and take sufficient account of 
patient outcomes. Therefore the work announced by the Minister for Health and 
Social Services to review ambulance response measures should be rapid, clinically-
led, informed by best practice and designed to enable benchmarking across the UK 
where possible. 
 
Accept 

 
This was a clear recommendation in the McClelland Review and I welcome the committee’s 
support for the review of ambulance response time targets. The existing eight-minute target 
is based on data from studies published more than 40 years ago which focused on the 
treatment of out-of-hospital cardiac arrest only. It is important to note the studies did not 
consider any other type of pre-hospital emergency condition, and there is little empirical 
research available on response times to any other type of emergency calls. I was 
particularly encouraged to note the committee’s support for ensuring that patients receive 
services appropriate to their need which aligns directly to the principles of prudent 
healthcare. This should be the key driver in an emergency clinical response. 
 
It is important we continue to develop clinical performance and patient outcomes as the 
main standards for assessing the performance of emergency ambulance services to meet 
public expectation of accountability and transparency.  

Pack Page 30



 
Conclusion 2 
 
To maintain momentum and work towards a whole system approach to unscheduled 
care, all health boards must be fully engaged with the work of the Welsh Ambulance 
Services NHS Trust through the work of the Emergency Ambulance Services 
Committee on a national level, and directly with the Trust on a local level.  
 
Health boards must take due account of the impact on the Welsh Ambulance 
Services NHS Trust when developing new services or considering making changes to 
existing services. Health boards must also ensure that the Welsh Ambulance 
Services NHS Trust is involved in discussions at a sufficiently early stage to enable it 
to give proper consideration to the impact on its services. 
 
Accept 
 

There has been considerable progress in the level of responsibility for emergency 
ambulance services at a local level among health boards. This is central to embedding the 
ambulance services in the unscheduled care system. The early agreement on WASTs 
budget for 2015/16 is tangible evidence of progress in this area and a step change in the 
collaboration between health boards and the Trust. 
 
The emergency ambulance service’s national collaborative commissioning quality and 
delivery framework drives accountability and responsibility among health boards through a 
range of actions. This includes the requirement for the nomination from each health board of 
an Emergency Ambulance Services ‘Champion’ to act as their organisation’s point of 
contact for the successful operation and ongoing development of the framework. A 
collaborative performance delivery group which reports directly to EASC has been 
established and will consider and advise on the management of performance issues. This 
will include chief operating officers from each health board and will be chaired by the Chief 
Ambulance Services Commissioner. 
 
Health board chairs and independent members receive regular updates and progress 
reports from their own executive directors and will invite WAST to attend board meetings or 
sub-committees. The chair of EASC and the chief ambulance services commissioner will 
attend each health board meeting at least once annually. 
 
The framework, which includes a number of joint measures, will also enable both WAST 
and health boards to detail how they will support improvements to ambulance 
responsiveness and quality of delivery within their integrated medium term plans.  
 
I have received formal assurance from Dr CDV Jones, chair of Cwm Taf University Health 
Board that all health boards are committed to achieving this objective. In view of the 
committee’s recommendation I will seek further assurance from chairs of health boards that 
the momentum achieved to date is fostered at all levels.  I will also seek assurance from all 
health boards about their processes for ensuring all relevant stakeholders, including WAST, 
are engaged in discussions about service change proposals at an early stage. 

Pack Page 31



 
Conclusion 3  
 
Agreement must be reached between the Welsh Ambulance Services NHS Trust, 
trade unions and staff at the earliest opportunity on revised staff rosters in those 
parts of Wales for which revised arrangements are not yet in place.  
 
The Welsh Ambulance Services NHS Trust must, working in partnership with trades 
unions and staff, put in place arrangements to review staff rosters at appropriate 
intervals to avoid future mismatches between staffing and anticipated demand. 
 
Accept 

 
Aligning frontline staffing capacity to meet predicted levels of demand is central to improving 
ambulance responsiveness. New arrangements are in place in the Cardiff and Vale area, 
and revised arrangements are due to be implemented in the Cwm Taf and Aneurin Bevan 
health board areas by the end of May.  
 
Discussions are ongoing in regard to staff rosters in the Abertawe Bro Morgannwg, Betsi 
Cadwaladr, Hywel Dda and Powys areas. The quality and delivery framework requires 
WAST to reduce reliance on overtime and this will in itself act as a driver to ensure robust 
staff rosters are in place for frontline and clinical contact centre staff. EASC invested £7.5m 
to support the recruitment of additional staff which helps facilitate the revised rosters. 
 
The chief ambulance services commissioner has commissioned the development of a 
‘demand and capacity’ tool by Cardiff University, in collaboration with Aneurin Bevan health 
board’s continuous improvement modelling unit. This will help to forecast demand and the 
understanding of where to position frontline resource during predicted peaks and troughs in 
activity to support efficient deployment.  
The Commissioner will continue to monitor the situation closely and ensure a regular review 
of staff rosters. 
 

Conclusion 4 

 

The Welsh Ambulance Services NHS Trust must prioritise emergency ambulance 

services provision. Work is required to identify appropriate mechanisms for the 

provision of non-emergency patient transport services, and to disaggregate those 

services from the Trust in accordance with recommendation 2 of the McClelland 

Review. The Trust must establish a clear plan for the disaggregation, with identified 

timescales and costs. The Committee expects to receive an update on this plan 

before it follows up its inquiry later this year. 

 

Accept 
 

In response to the recommendations set out in the McClelland Review, the NHS in Wales 

continues to bring forward plans to modernise the provision of patient care services.  

 

The first step of this modernisation agenda has involved the transfer of health courier 

services from WAST to the NHS Shared Services Partnership. The transfer has been 

successfully completed and the new service started on 1 April 2015. The hard work of 

everyone involved in the detailed planning for the transfer ensured that there was no 

disruption in service. 
Pack Page 32



 

Any transfer of non-emergency patient transport from WAST is more complex. We want to 

make sure any planned changes do not destabilise and put in jeopardy the provision of 

emergency ambulance services.  To this end, the Welsh Government is working closely with 

the Welsh NHS and WAST on plans for modernising non-emergency patient transport.   

 

A project board is considering a number of options for modernising non-emergency patient 

transport.  As part of this work, I have made it clear that I expect the board to build on the 

findings and recommendations set out in the Win Griffith’s report including the transfer of 

best practice that has seen different service models emerge involving partnership working 

with local authorities to improve efficiencies across the public sector as well as increased 

provision by community and voluntary sector transport providers. .     

 

 

Conclusion 5 

 

The Emergency Ambulance Services Committee, the Welsh Ambulance Services NHS 

Trust and local health boards must work together to reduce the number of hours lost 

as a result of patient handover delays. The new handover policy must be 

implemented consistently across Wales, and any issues identified in the follow up 

visits made by the chief executive-lead on unscheduled care must be resolved 

swiftly. 

 

Accept 

 
Lengthy patient handover delays are entirely unacceptable.  
 
The national hospital handover guidance is a clear statement of intent that requires health 
boards to take responsibility for ensuring the safe handover of patients to hospital teams 
within 15 minutes. The guidance sets out 10 key actions for health boards and trusts to 
incorporate in their existing protocols to ensure timely handover.  The indications are that 
delays are beginning to reduce at the majority of emergency departments. The latest 
information for March indicates there has been a 23% reduction in the numbers of patients 
waiting over an hour for handover since December 2014.  
 
Conclusion 6 
 
The Chief Ambulance Services Commissioner, the Emergency Ambulance Services 
Committee and the Welsh Ambulance Services NHS Trust should urgently address 
the issue of ambulances being ‘pulled away’ from their areas. In doing so, they 
should seek to identify and learn from best practice across the UK. The ‘return to 
footprint’ pilot should be explored and evaluated on a wider basis as a priority. 
 
Accept 
 
We expect as equitable level of emergency ambulance service provision as possible for all 
Welsh residents, regardless of where they live with the required levels of frontline cover to 
support an effective and timely response at all times. We also expect the right clinical 
resource to be dispatched by WAST’s based on a patient’s need. 
 
The existing eight-minute target can drive perverse behaviour through the dispatch of 
multiple crews and ambulances in order to achieve the target.  Improving the way Pack Page 33



emergency resources are dispatched to achieve the best possible outcome for patients form 
part of the service’s clinical modernisation. 
 
A ‘return to footprint’ pilot is underway in the Cwm Taf University Health Board area, which 
has resulted in an uplift in responsiveness which correlates with the commencement of the 
trial. The chief ambulance services commissioner has established a quality assurance and 
improvement panel which reports to EASC and will review and evaluate service 
improvement initiatives like the trial in Cwm Taf. Membership of the panel includes senior 
clinical leaders and eminent academics. 
 
Conclusion 7 
 
In providing unscheduled care, health boards and the Welsh Ambulance Services 
NHS Trust must take account of the patient’s individual needs. Health boards and the 
Welsh Ambulance Services NHS Trust must ensure that assessment, care and 
treatment are provided in ways which meet the patient’s individual needs, and help 
them achieve their optimum outcome. This should include appropriate use of 
assessment, care and treatment provided in the community, as well as hospital-
based provision. 
 
Accept 
 

I welcome the Committee’s conclusion that more needs to be done collectively to treat 
patients as close to home as possible, with a focus on a patient’s individual needs to avoid 
unnecessary conveyance by emergency ambulance to hospital. We have published our 
national plan for a primary care service for Wales to help drive this.  
 
Underpinned by the principles of prudent healthcare and those featured in the primary care 
plan, the five-stage ambulance patient care pathway in the quality and delivery framework 
describes EASC’s expectations for how the ambulance service should provide services to 
Welsh residents. WAST is expected to meet a series of core requirements, quality 
measures and clinical indicators described under each of the five stages. 
The five-step ambulance patient care pathway clearly marks out WAST’s emergency 
ambulance service as a clinical service within the wider integrated Welsh healthcare 
system, and forms part of a multiagency, collaborative approach between health boards and 
WAST to develop high-performing pre-hospital clinical services. It is intended to ensure 
patients receive the right care, at the right time from the right clinician to achieve the 
optimum outcome for every patient. 

Significant work has been undertaken as part of the clinical modernisation of emergency 
ambulance services to improve assessment of patients in the community through the 
development of a number of initiatives and tools. Emergency department consultants and 
paramedics triage calls that may be better dealt with closer to home. Alongside this the 
introduction of the Manchester Triage System to clinical contact centres to provide 
enhanced clinical assessment of patients. WAST has also implemented the Paramedic 
Pathfinder tool. This allows the use of a range of safe, consistent and clinically safe, triage 
and evidence-based processes, which enable paramedics to conduct accurate face-to-face 
assessment of individual patient's care needs, when they arrive on scene, allowing them to 
refer to other healthcare settings in the community where appropriate.  

Alternative care pathways for patients with resolved epilepsy resolved hypoglycaemia and 
for patients who have fallen are now supported by WAST in all health board areas with 
several thousand patients being safely referred to an appropriate healthcare setting other 
than hospital.  

Pack Page 34



These and similar initiatives has resulted in WAST non-conveyance rates which are now 
among the highest in the UK, conserving precious emergency care capacity to respond to 
patients who have a clinical need for a timely response and relieving pressure on 
Emergency Departments. 

 
Conclusion 8 
 
Ambulance services in the medium and longer term must be high performing, and 
aligned to demand. Therefore health boards, the Emergency Ambulance Services 
Committee and the Welsh Ambulance Services NHS Trust should undertake robust 
and effective forward planning which takes anticipated demographic changes into 
account. 
 
Accept 
 

I welcome the committee’s conclusion that an effective recruitment strategy and robust 
planning of the capacity required to meet forecasted demand is essential for a high 
performing emergency ambulance service. Medium and longer-term planning is essential 
for this to be achieved. 
 
WAST is expected to provide an integrated medium term plan which must take account of 
demographic change, service developments, health inequalities, primary care needs along 
with specific clinical requirements such as mental health  and maternal and child health 
considerations. These plans set out the intentions of organisations, their priorities and 
expected delivery for the next three years. These plans are used by the Welsh Government 
to inform performance management and quality discussions throughout the year. 
 
Yours sincerely  
 
 

 
 
 
Vaughan Gething AC / AM 

Y Dirprwy Weinidog lechyd   
Deputy Minister for Health 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 

Pack Page 35



 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Pack Page 36



National Assembly for Wales / Cynulliad Cenedlaethol Cymru
Health and Social Care Committee / Y Pwyllgor Iechyd a Gofal Cymdeithasol

Follow-up inquiry into the performance of Ambulance Services in Wales / 
Ymchwiliad dilynol i berfformiad Gwasanaethau Ambiwlans Cymru
Evidence from UNISON Cymru Wales – PAS(F)01 / Tystiolaeth gan UNSAIN 
Cymru Wales – PAS(F)01

UNISON Cymru Wales submission 
to the Health and Social Care 
Committee: Inquiry into the 
performance of the ambulance 
service in Wales

Pack Page 36

http://www.senedd.assembly.wales/mgCommitteeDetails.aspx?ID=227
http://www.senedd.cynulliad.cymru/mgCommitteeDetails.aspx?ID=227
http://www.senedd.assembly.wales/mgIssueHistoryHome.aspx?IId=012206
http://www.senedd.cynulliad.cymru/mgIssueHistoryHome.aspx?IId=012206


As the largest trade union in the Welsh Ambulance Service, UNISON is very pleased 
that the voice of staff across the Trust and across all professions and grades is being 
listened to by the Health and Social Services Committee. UNISON Cymru Wales 
represents some 35000 NHS staff across all grades and disciplines, 1200 of whom 
work for the Welsh Ambulance Services NHS Trust.

For some years UNISON and has absolutely strived, often under very difficult 
circumstances, to maintain professional and high trust partnership working. This is 
not just in conventional industrial relations with WAST but also with;

 With Welsh Govt, Health Minister, Deputy Health Minister
 With opposition Health Shadows over UNISONs commitment to improvement 

in WAST and the requirement for broad cross party support for robust clinical 
outcome indicators.

 With the media
 By leading the debate, internally and externally, about the need for 

performance improvement and judging the effectiveness of patient 
experiences via clinical outcomes not just how fast the ambulance arrived. 
The debate around demand, clinical outcomes and Choose Well is what 
UNISON has been very publicly campaigning on for a number of years.

 UNISON has a proud record of being a part of the solution, not the problem in 
transforming the performance of WAST.

Industrial Relations

There has been a significant improvement in industrial relations since the 
appointment of Tracy Myhill and Tracy earned the personal respect of colleagues 
and UNISON very quickly. It would be fair to say that the culture and high standards 
that Tracy is seeking to implement has challenged the status quo profoundly and that 
continues to be a challenge to the behaviour of some.

At the same time, UNISON has determined that it had improvements to make in its 
own structures, some of which did not add value to what we are trying to achieve at 
WAST. We have dealt with this via the creation of one all Wales UNISON 
Ambulance Branch that went live on July 1st 2015. 

UNISON has long believed that, whilst there has been ‘partnership working’ in name, 
real partnership working has been anecdotal and not embedded throughout the 
organisation. For a number of years UNISON committed to move into real 

Pack Page 37



partnership working, with shared objectives around the success of the organisation: 
where high trust, high performance and a commitment to wanting to be the best 
Ambulance Service in the UK was critical for us. 

Since her appointment, Tracy Myhill has been committed to introducing that same 
true partnership working within WAST and in recent months there has been a cross 
flow of ideas on what that might be and where we start from. It was Tracy’s initiative 
to hold three high level seminars across Wales to identify what partnership working 
could look like. 

UNISON added considerable value to this process by inviting WAST and fellow trade 
unions to consider partnership working case studies from across Wales from world 
class companies whose partnership working drives them to be globally competitive, 
high performance leaders. As a result, a case study on how workplace partnership 
drove high performance at Airbus at Broughton was delivered and we hope to visit 
Airbus in the near future. We also introduced WAST colleagues and leaders to the 
exemplar workplace partnership work of United Utilities and Dwr Cymru – Welsh 
Water which were blueprints for the Airbus experience.  

Whilst there have been significant improvements delivered from the top, by Tracy 
Myhill, Claire Vaughan, Estelle Hitchon and for many years previous, Judith Hardisty, 
which has challenged the culture of ‘top down management’ throughout the 
organisation, partnership at a local level is often not where it needs to be. There are 
still too many occasions where the views of trade union partners are an afterthought 
or where some meetings go ahead without invited trade unions being in attendance 
because of resource issues. 

The key headlines noted during the last Inquiry still hold true. 

 Rota’s
 On time meal breaks 
 and over-runs.

UNISON supports in principle the requirement for rota’s to be clinically demand led 
and for those rota’s to support patients as well as ensure good work life balance. But 
in many parts of Wales, rota’s are still not right with a feeling that many were 
introduced in haste not least because many were introduced outside of established 
partnership working. Our members still report that they are not getting very 
significant numbers of their meal breaks within their windows. And many staff are 
routinely carrying out significant shift over-runs. It is important to consider that many 
shifts are 12 hours long and significant over-runs are clinically dangerous as well as 
coming at a high personal cost to staff.

So there have been serious improvements, and the new management regime has 
been key. But our belief is that it is not yet embedded. We would particularly 

Pack Page 38



welcome future Health and Social Care Committee encouragement in its 
recommendations to support real, high trust, partnership working at WAST.

Performance

UNISON is also absolutely committed to getting a world class ambulance service 
that is fit for purpose in a country that does not always lend itself to vehicles going 
from A-B in prescribed times. That is why clinically measuring patient outcomes is so 
important to us.

UNISON has led the debate for some time on the striking evidence that A8 times are 
not clinically important (apart from the most critically ill and life threatened patients), 
only measure what the ambulance did before arrival, not what EMS professionals did 
after and can often divert resources in order to ‘chase the eight’. We implore the 
Health and Social Care Committee to consider the need to place clinical outcomes 
(which do matter) above the need to post A8 times (which don’t, other than for 
around 150 people a day) and to oversee the clinically led response model pilot 
developed over the summer.

Politicians of all colours never feel the heat as much as frontline EMS staff who are 
upset and appalled at the monthly assault that they get over response times, 
notwithstanding that it is not intentionally directed at them. All official and unofficial 
staff surveys/interviews support this feeling from staff. They are not interested in the 
fact that there was a general election looming or a National Assembly election next 
year. They are interested in the fact that they are saving lives every day, often in the 
most difficult and extreme of circumstances, and then suffer the devastating blow of 
getting the now regular monthly attack on their response times.  

UNISON is not opposed in principle to clinical outcome indicators being comparable 
across home country borders if this could assist in the provision of cross party 
support in the Senedd for a clinically led set of performance indicators.

UNISON also believes that we need more volunteer community first responders 
(CFRs) in Wales as a key to cardiac arrest survival and recovery. Irrespective of 
one’s views on the clinical outcome model it is a mainstream view that for the most 
urgent cardiac arrests, an eight minute response can be too long in any case. 
Therefore a package of care with CFRs attending within minutes and EMS 
responses just after, should be promoted by the active recruitment of more volunteer 
CFRs. We have also called for a substantial increase in publicly available automated 
external defibrillators. During the McClelland review we noted that Seattle has one of 
the world’s highest survival rates for cardiac arrest at around 20%, with King County 
in Seattle having a 62% survival rate. Seattle has one of the highest number 
proportionally of volunteer community first responders and a significantly high 

Pack Page 39



number of publicly available automated external defibrillators. The average survival 
rate is around 10% in Wales and across the UK. 

Demand

UNISON has consistently been arguing in Wales that demand for emergency 
ambulances is increasing by over 5% a year, every year and has done so for over a 
decade, which is unsustainable. This has had a profound effect on the ambulance 
service as well as the capacity of Emergency Department’s. It is also a desperately 
dispiriting experience for those patients who could have achieved earlier clinical 
advice instead of sitting in an Emergency Department.

We have consistently talked about the need for alternative pathways that are ‘always 
on’. It was important for UNISON therefore to see what we could do practically to 
support the Choose Well campaign. 

So UNISON, as the largest public service trade union determined to use its reach, 
reputation and relationships with public service employer’s right across Wales to 
encourage them to formally sign up to the Choose Well campaign. This was so that 
we could encourage employers we had a relationship with to deliver key messages 
to both their staff and their services users such as students, tenants, clients and the 
general public. Our inaugural #ChooseWellChampion was Hafal, the charity 
supporting those with a serious mental illness who will deliver choose well messages 
to their 200 staff and 3000 service users across all 22 counties in Wales. After this 
autumn’s campaign, we hope to talk to the Wales TUC to see whether cross union 
networks could be used which could open up key messages to Wales’ 500,000 trade 
union members and their employers.

In helping to reduce demand on 999 and Emergency Departments, UNISON has 
continually called on the Minister, Deputy Minister, WAST and the wider NHS estate 
in Wales to look at the innovative examples that some English Ambulance Services 
use to educate the general public on the appropriate use of 999 and ambulance 
services. 

For example, ambulances in East Midlands have vibrant and informative Choose 
Well messaging on ambulances. There really seems to be a barrier somewhere in 
the system to putting out these messages on NHS assets in Wales. We have also 
called for a schools and colleges education campaign that could include an art 
competition that will result in an on-ambulance poster for the winner/s. We have also 
called on the Welsh Government and Visit Wales to work together on an ‘enjoy 
Wales, stay safe in Wales’ campaign to deliver Choose Well messages to the 
hundreds of thousands of visitors that we attract in Wales.

Pack Page 40



Patient Care Service

It is UNISONs firm belief that the ‘non-emergency patient transport’ that the 
Committee Inquiry discussed in its last outcome in March 2015 is in fact a Patient 
Care Service (PCS). For example, each PCS ambulance carries a defibrillator and 
staff who are trained to use them. It would be wrong to conclude that WAST is 
somehow distracted from its central role of providing EMS services by its provision of 
PCS services. In fact in terms of resilience, finance and robust support at major 
incidents, a strategically managed PCS is absolutely critical to the EMS function of 
WAST. We have some reason to believe that the appetite for Health Boards to take 
on PCS has slipped away since the McClelland review and that a reformed PCS 
would be best placed within a clinically led WAST. 

Concluding comments

UNISON completely accepts that the performance of WAST has to improve on many 
levels. We believe that we now have in place a Chief Executive who can make this 
happen by engaging with trade unions (and staff more widely).  Equally, UNISON is 
supporting the demand for high standards from both staff side unions as well as 
WAST leaders.

UNISON can evidence that it has long been a part of the WAST solution, not part of 
the WAST problem. Our combined contribution towards real partnership working, 
supporting world class clinical outcomes and reducing demand by highlighting 
alternative pathways is unsurpassed.

Our personal commitment to improving WAST performance is that we will not 
change our strategic approach which we believe will contribute to an ambulance 
service that we all, the people of Wales, want to be proud of.

Darron Dupre
Ambulance Lead
UNISON Cymru Wales

14th October 2015
 

Pack Page 41



National Assembly for Wales / Cynulliad Cenedlaethol Cymru
Health and Social Care Committee / Y Pwyllgor Iechyd a Gofal Cymdeithasol

Follow-up inquiry into the performance of Ambulance Services in Wales / 
Ymchwiliad dilynol i berfformiad Gwasanaethau Ambiwlans Cymru
Evidence from GMB – PAS(F)03 / Tystiolaeth gan GMB – PAS(F)03

Written Evidence to the National Assembly for Wales’ Health and Social Care 
Committee, November 2015 to Inform the Follow Up Inquiry Into the 

Performance of the Ambulance Services in Wales

The GMB has responded to each of the eight areas that the committee 
identified in its original inquiry into the performance of Ambulance Services 
in Wales, in the order that the letter was sent to the Deputy Minister for 
Health, Vaughan Gething.

Conclusion 1 : The Emergency Ambulance Services Committee, the Welsh 
Ambulance Services NHS Trust and local health boards must work together 
urgently to improve emergency ambulance response times and optimise 
patient outcomes. Performance measures must be clinically appropriate and 
take sufficient account of patient outcomes. Therefore the work announced 
by the Minister for Health and Social Services to review ambulance response 
measures should be rapid, clinically-led, informed by best practice and 
designed to enable benchmarking across the UK where possible.

Performance Indicators
Since the report the clinical response model has changed and a trial of a 
clinically led response outcome has been introduced from the 1st October 
2015.  Data is now being collated to ascertain what best practise should be.  
As an organisation, the GMB completely supports this trial, however, we are 
concerned that the appropriate training to support the clinicians (i.e. 
paramedics) is still not in place.  We believe that this training is essential for 
this model to succeed.

Conclusion 2 : To maintain momentum and work towards a whole system 
approach to unscheduled care, all health boards must be fully engaged with 
the work of the Welsh Ambulance Services NHS Trust through the work of 

Pack Page 42

http://www.senedd.assembly.wales/mgCommitteeDetails.aspx?ID=227
http://www.senedd.cynulliad.cymru/mgCommitteeDetails.aspx?ID=227
http://www.senedd.assembly.wales/mgIssueHistoryHome.aspx?IId=012206
http://www.senedd.cynulliad.cymru/mgIssueHistoryHome.aspx?IId=012206


the Emergency Ambulance Services Committee on a national level, and 
directly with the Trust on a local level. Health boards must take due account 
of the impact on the Welsh Ambulance Services NHS Trust when developing 
new services or considering making changes to existing services. Health 
boards must also ensure that the Welsh Ambulance Services NHS Trust is 
involved in discussions at a sufficiently early stage to enable it to give proper 
consideration to the impact on its services.

Accountability & Engagement 
Whereas the GMB accepts and welcomes these proposals and 
recommendations we are currently unable to comment on how they have 
progressed as we have not been approached to be involved in this process 
so far.

Conclusion 3 : Agreement must be reached between the Welsh Ambulance 
Services NHS Trust, trades unions and staff at the earliest opportunity on 
revised staff rosters in those parts of Wales for which revised arrangements 
are not yet in place. The Welsh Ambulance Services NHS Trust must, working 
in partnership with trades unions and staff, put in place arrangements to 
review staff rosters at appropriate intervals to avoid future mismatches 
between staffing and anticipated demand.

Leadership, Organisational Change & Staffing 
The roster reviews have been started and are currently on-going, however, 
the GMB has raised concerns with WAST that in some areas new rotas have 
been signed off by management that have not been agreed in partnership 
and have failed to follow the agreed process.  We have also raised concerns 
where we believe that the priority for rota charge is financially led and not 
necessarily to the benefit of either patients or the health and wellbeing of 
the staff.

With regard to the new arrangements that were put in place in the Cardiff & 
Vale, Cwm Taf and Aneurin Bevan Health Board areas we can make the 
following comments;

Cardiff & Vale:- Rota’s were implemented, however, they were not agreed in 
partnership and did not follow the agreed process.  The end product of this 

Pack Page 43



is that the response targets worsened in that area but a financial saving was 
made.  This is currently being investigated by the Trust.  The GMB has not 
been asked to participate in this process.

Cwm Taf:- This locality has seen the introduction of ring fencing of 
resources which has had a positive effect on targets and staff morale.  The 
trial has significantly increased the number of vehicles available by utilising 
external companies to supplement the existing resources.

Morale has improved due to crews now being able to take rest breaks more 
appropriately/regular and there has been a clear reduction in shift overruns.

Aneurin Bevan:- At Aneurin Bevan the rotas are still being worked on in 
partnership and both the management and Trade Unions have questioned 
the data as it is suggesting that a reduction in resources is required.  
However, the current response targets are not being met and by reducing 
resources the problem will get worse.  In the meantime the Trust is looking 
to fill vacancies wherever possible but this will take time to take effect.

Of the three examples given the Cwm Taf model is clearly, based on 
evidence produced during the trial, the indicator for best practice, based on 
the correct available resources.

The suggestions that recruitment of additional staff will help to facilitate 
revised rotas we believe is yet to be seen.  We believe that the £7.5 m 
investment has prevented the service from falling backwards but, without 
further investment, will not enable the service to move forward.

Whereas we welcome the ambulance services commissioner developing the 
“demand and capacity” tool we would appreciate being involved in that 
development but to date we have not been asked to be involved.

Conclusion 4 : The Welsh Ambulance Services NHS Trust must prioritise 
emergency ambulance services provision. Work is required to identify 
appropriate mechanisms for the provision of non-emergency patient 
transport services, and to disaggregate those services from the Trust in 
accordance with recommendation 2 of the McClelland Review. The Trust 

Pack Page 44



must establish a clear plan for the disaggregation, with identified timescales 
and costs. The Committee expects to receive an update on this plan before it 
follows up its inquiry later this year.

Non Emergency Patient Transport         
The GMB still has concerns around the disaggregation of patient transport 
services as we identified to Mark Drakeford, Minister for Health, after the 
publication of the McClelland review.

Part of our concern was that the GMB as an organisation had been left out of 
the review and were not invited to give evidence.  Furthermore it was evident 
that the National Programme Board which was dealing with the patient 
transport services at the time had not reached a conclusion to disaggregate 
the service and had not been asked to take part in the McClelland review, in 
fact, the National Programme Board findings were contrary to the McClelland 
findings.  However, there has been progression and the GMB understands 
that discussions are on-going and a final business case has been submitted 
to the minister outlining a partnership view on how the service should 
evolve.  This business case would see patient transport services run hand in 
hand with the Emergency Medical Services (EMS).

Conclusion 5 : The Emergency Ambulance Services Committee, the Welsh 
Ambulance Services NHS Trust and local health boards must work together 
to reduce the number of hours lost as a result of patient handover delays. 
The new handover policy must be implemented consistently across Wales, 
and any issues identified in the follow up visits made by the chief executive-
lead on unscheduled care must be resolved swiftly.

Patient Handover 
Patient Handover continues to be an issue especially when the system is 
under pressure.  The GMB welcomes all attempts by Health Boards and 
Trusts to improve on handover times but we feel that such improvements are 
not within the gift of the Ambulance Service.

Conclusion 6 : The Chief Ambulance Services Commissioner, the Emergency 
Ambulance Services Committee and the Welsh Ambulance Services NHS Trust 
should urgently address the issue of ambulances being ‘pulled away’ from 

Pack Page 45



their areas. In doing so, they should seek to identify and learn from best 
practice across the UK. The ‘return to footprint’ pilot should be explored and 
evaluated on a wider basis as a priority.

Models of Development
The GMB totally supports this principle, as referred to in conclusion 2.  We 
would support this model being rolled out across the service.  However, to 
do so would require additional resources.

Conclusion 7 : In providing unscheduled care, health boards and the Welsh 
Ambulance Services NHS Trust must take account of the patient’s individual 
needs. Health boards and the Welsh Ambulance Services NHS Trust must 
ensure that assessment, care and treatment are provided in ways which meet 
the patient’s individual needs, and help them achieve their optimum 
outcome. This should include appropriate use of assessment, care and 
treatment provided in the community, as well as hospital-based provision.

Frequent Callers
The GMB totally supports this conclusion.  However, for this to work 
sufficient resources need to be allocated WAST to fully educate staff across 
the organisation i.e. frontline, control, NHSD/111 Services etc.  Without the 
additional skills it is not possible to effectively supply the service 
requirements, nor would it be safe to do so.

Conclusion 8 : Ambulance services in the medium and longer term must be 
high performing, and aligned to demand. Therefore health boards, the 
Emergency Ambulance Services Committee and the Welsh Ambulance 
Services NHS Trust should undertake robust and effective forward planning 
which takes anticipated demographic changes into account.

Anticipation the Demand for services  
We support this move to a three year development plan and we are happy to 
assist with this process wherever we can.

Paul Gage
Lead NHS Officer
GMB Wales and South West                                                    November 2015

Pack Page 46



National Assembly for Wales / Cynulliad Cenedlaethol Cymru
Health and Social Care Committee / Y Pwyllgor Iechyd a Gofal Cymdeithasol

Follow-up inquiry into the performance of Ambulance Services in Wales / 
Ymchwiliad dilynol i berfformiad Gwasanaethau Ambiwlans Cymru
Evidence from Unite the Union – PAS(F)07 / Tystiolaeth gan Uno’r Undeb – 
PAS(F)07

Unite’s Submission to the Social Care Committee

November 2015

Introduction

Unite has some 6000 members in the heath sector in wales.  Of that we have some 600 
in the Ambulance service covering all aspects of the service.

The submission below is intended to give our initial responses to the submission 
made by the Minister and will follow the same sequence of responses that he has 
made.

We look forward to discussing these matters further and expanding on our responses 
where required when we meet on 3rd December.

Comments on the Ministers Response

Conclusion 1 
The Emergency Ambulance Services Committee, the Welsh Ambulance Services NHS 
Trust and local health boards must work together urgently to improve emergency 
ambulance response times and optimise patient outcomes. 
Performance measures must be clinically appropriate and take sufficient account of 
patient outcomes. Therefore the work announced by the Minister for Health and Social 
Services to review ambulance response measures should be rapid, clinically-led, 
informed by best practice and designed to enable benchmarking across the UK where 
possible. 

Accept 
This was a clear recommendation in the McClelland Review and I welcome the committee’s 
support for the review of ambulance response time targets. The existing eight-minute target 
is based on data from studies published more than 40 years ago which focused on the 
treatment of out-of-hospital cardiac arrest only. It is important to note the studies did not 
consider any other type of pre-hospital emergency condition, and there is little empirical 
research available on response times to any other type of emergency calls. I was particularly 
encouraged to note the committee’s support for ensuring that patients receive services 
appropriate to their need which aligns directly to the principles of prudent healthcare. This 
should be the key driver in an emergency clinical response. 
It is important we continue to develop clinical performance and patient outcomes as the main 
standards for assessing the performance of emergency ambulance services to meet public 
expectation of accountability and transparency. 

Unite welcome the steps taken by the Welsh Government on response times and note 
the recent successes.  It is clear that there still improvements to be made in some 
areas however we are reassured by the steps taken by the Minister and Deputy 
Minister and believe that direction of travel is positive.

Pack Page 47

http://www.senedd.assembly.wales/mgCommitteeDetails.aspx?ID=227
http://www.senedd.cynulliad.cymru/mgCommitteeDetails.aspx?ID=227
http://www.senedd.assembly.wales/mgIssueHistoryHome.aspx?IId=012206
http://www.senedd.cynulliad.cymru/mgIssueHistoryHome.aspx?IId=012206


2

Conclusion 2 
To maintain momentum and work towards a whole system approach to unscheduled 
care, all health boards must be fully engaged with the work of the Welsh Ambulance 
Services NHS Trust through the work of the Emergency Ambulance Services 
Committee on a national level, and directly with the Trust on a local level. 
Health boards must take due account of the impact on the Welsh Ambulance Services 
NHS Trust when developing new services or considering making changes to existing 
services. Health boards must also ensure that the Welsh Ambulance Services NHS 
Trust is involved in discussions at a sufficiently early stage to enable it to give proper 
consideration to the impact on its services. 

Accept 
There has been considerable progress in the level of responsibility for emergency 
ambulance services at a local level among health boards. This is central to embedding the 
ambulance services in the unscheduled care system. The early agreement on WASTs 
budget for 2015/16 is tangible evidence of progress in this area and a step change in the 
collaboration between health boards and the Trust. 
The emergency ambulance service’s national collaborative commissioning quality and 
delivery framework drives accountability and responsibility among health boards through a 
range of actions. This includes the requirement for the nomination from each health board of 
an Emergency Ambulance Services ‘Champion’ to act as their organisation’s point of contact 
for the successful operation and ongoing development of the framework. A collaborative 
performance delivery group which reports directly to EASC has been established and will 
consider and advise on the management of performance issues. This will include chief 
operating officers from each health board and will be chaired by the Chief Ambulance 
Services Commissioner. 
Health board chairs and independent members receive regular updates and progress 
reports from their own executive directors and will invite WAST to attend board meetings or 
sub-committees. The chair of EASC and the chief ambulance services commissioner will 
attend each health board meeting at least once annually. 
The framework, which includes a number of joint measures, will also enable both WAST and 
health boards to detail how they will support improvements to ambulance responsiveness 
and quality of delivery within their integrated medium term plans. 
I have received formal assurance from Dr CDV Jones, chair of Cwm Taf University Health 
Board that all health boards are committed to achieving this objective. In view of the 
committee’s recommendation I will seek further assurance from chairs of health boards that 
the momentum achieved to date is fostered at all levels. I will also seek assurance from all 
health boards about their processes for ensuring all relevant stakeholders, including WAST, 
are engaged in discussions about service change proposals at an early stage. 

Unite is not in a position to respond to this point.

Conclusion 3 
Agreement must be reached between the Welsh Ambulance Services NHS Trust, trade 
unions and staff at the earliest opportunity on revised staff rosters in those parts of 
Wales for which revised arrangements are not yet in place. 
The Welsh Ambulance Services NHS Trust must, working in partnership with trades 
unions and staff, put in place arrangements to review staff rosters at appropriate 
intervals to avoid future mismatches between staffing and anticipated demand. 

Accept 

Pack Page 48



3

Aligning frontline staffing capacity to meet predicted levels of demand is central to improving 
ambulance responsiveness. New arrangements are in place in the Cardiff and Vale area, 
and revised arrangements are due to be implemented in the Cwm Taf and Aneurin Bevan 
health board areas by the end of May. 
Discussions are ongoing in regard to staff rosters in the Abertawe Bro Morgannwg, Betsi 
Cadwaladr, Hywel Dda and Powys areas. The quality and delivery framework requires 
WAST to reduce reliance on overtime and this will in itself act as a driver to ensure robust 
staff rosters are in place for frontline and clinical contact centre staff. EASC invested £7.5m 
to support the recruitment of additional staff which helps facilitate the revised rosters. 
The chief ambulance services commissioner has commissioned the development of a 
‘demand and capacity’ tool by Cardiff University, in collaboration with Aneurin Bevan health 
board’s continuous improvement modelling unit. This will help to forecast demand and the 
understanding of where to position frontline resource during predicted peaks and troughs in 
activity to support efficient deployment. 
The Commissioner will continue to monitor the situation closely and ensure a regular review 
of staff rosters. 

We believe that the way in which demand is predicted needs to be examined and 
developed to provide better rosters. Especially now that the data is different because 
of the new response model.
The cycle times of crews and increasing workloads have been included to an extent, 
however we feel that the data should also include other information other than pure 
call numbers, an allowance for the day to day occurrences that cannot be planned for 
such as vehicle breakdowns and prolonged on scene times (such as large incidents 
even major incidents) to create head room for the management of the fluctuating 
demands on a daily basis. Hospital waiting  also needs to feature in the calculations.
At present we feel that rotas are too closely matched to pure demand, which ignores 
the other things that may occur during the day which affects capacity and the 
capability to deal with the workload. It would be good, for instance, to be able to stand 
a crew down from operational duties for meetings with their line manager, be it to 
carry out PDR or sickness review or team briefings but this is utterly impossible as 
things stand without affecting response times and patient care. 

Conclusion 4 
The Welsh Ambulance Services NHS Trust must prioritise emergency ambulance 
services provision. Work is required to identify appropriate mechanisms for the 
provision of non-emergency patient transport services, and to disaggregate those 
services from the Trust in accordance with recommendation 2 of the McClelland 
Review. The Trust must establish a clear plan for the disaggregation, with identified 
timescales and costs. The Committee expects to receive an update on this plan before 
it follows up its inquiry later this year. 
Accept 
In response to the recommendations set out in the McClelland Review, the NHS in Wales 
continues to bring forward plans to modernise the provision of patient care services. 
The first step of this modernisation agenda has involved the transfer of health courier 
services from WAST to the NHS Shared Services Partnership. The transfer has been 
successfully completed and the new service started on 1 April 2015. The hard work of 
everyone involved in the detailed planning for the transfer ensured that there was no 
disruption in service. Any transfer of non-emergency patient transport from WAST is more 
complex. We want to make sure any planned changes do not destabilise and put in jeopardy 
the provision of emergency ambulance services. To this end, the Welsh Government is 
working closely with the Welsh NHS and WAST on plans for modernising non-emergency 
patient transport. 

Pack Page 49



4

A project board is considering a number of options for modernising non-emergency patient 
transport. As part of this work, I have made it clear that I expect the board to build on the 
findings and recommendations set out in the Win Griffith’s report including the transfer of 
best practice that has seen different service models emerge involving partnership working 
with local authorities to improve efficiencies across the public sector as well as increased 
provision by community and voluntary sector transport providers.

Unite has reservations on this issue. The Non-Emergency Patient Transport Services 
(NEPTS) side of the service does not interfere with Emergency Medical Service (EMS), 
in actual fact it supports it. The NEPTS has been a standalone service for many years 
but integral to what EMS do. We are concerned that to fragment the service by taking 
NEPTS away would be destabilising for the EMS side as it can be used as surplus 
capacity during times of extreme need such as Major Incidents and winter pressures 
We fully support the modernisation of the NEPTS and believe that there is scope for 
enhancing skills of NEPTS staff to support response model.

 
Conclusion 5 
The Emergency Ambulance Services Committee, the Welsh Ambulance Services NHS 
Trust and local health boards must work together to reduce the number of hours lost 
as a result of patient handover delays. The new handover policy must be implemented 
consistently across Wales, and any issues identified in the follow up visits made by 
the chief executive-lead on unscheduled care must be resolved swiftly. 

Accept 
Lengthy patient handover delays are entirely unacceptable. 
The national hospital handover guidance is a clear statement of intent that requires health 
boards to take responsibility for ensuring the safe handover of patients to hospital teams 
within 15 minutes. The guidance sets out 10 key actions for health boards and trusts to 
incorporate in their existing protocols to ensure timely handover. The indications are that 
delays are beginning to reduce at the majority of emergency departments. The latest 
information for March indicates there has been a 23% reduction in the numbers of patients 
waiting over an hour for handover since December 2014. 

We welcome the latest information quoted above.  We will be interested to review 
further data for other periods as it becomes available.

Conclusion 6 
The Chief Ambulance Services Commissioner, the Emergency Ambulance Services 
Committee and the Welsh Ambulance Services NHS Trust should urgently address 
the issue of ambulances being ‘pulled away’ from their areas. In doing so, they should 
seek to identify and learn from best practice across the UK. The ‘return to footprint’ 
pilot should be explored and evaluated on a wider basis as a priority. 

Accept 
We expect as equitable level of emergency ambulance service provision as possible for all 
Welsh residents, regardless of where they live with the required levels of frontline cover to 
support an effective and timely response at all times. We also expect the right clinical 
resource to be dispatched by WAST’s based on a patient’s need. 
The existing eight-minute target can drive perverse behaviour through the dispatch of 
multiple crews and ambulances in order to achieve the target. Improving the way emergency 
resources are dispatched to achieve the best possible outcome for patients form part of the 
service’s clinical modernisation. 

Pack Page 50



5

A ‘return to footprint’ pilot is underway in the Cwm Taf University Health Board area, which 
has resulted in an uplift in responsiveness which correlates with the commencement of the 
trial. The chief ambulance services commissioner has established a quality assurance and 
improvement panel which reports to EASC and will review and evaluate service 
improvement initiatives like the trial in Cwm Taf. Membership of the panel includes senior 
clinical leaders and eminent academics. 

Unite feels the “return to footprint” pilot is proving extremely successful. 
What it did show was that the amount of resource available is also critical to cover 
workload. For this reason we feel that either the rural areas need to be bolstered by 
increased staffing or in the more populated areas of Wales there is additional 
resource provided to prevent the whirlpool effect that draws resources out of rural 
areas into the populated areas to meet increasing demand. 
By doing this, rural crews could return to their areas to maintain cover.
In addition the further development of Paramedics skills to treat at scene and 
introducing more Advanced Practice Paramedics (APP) would also reduce the 
pressure on emergency departments and keep crews in their designated areas.
Possibly each area within WAST should be subject to a safe staffing study/guidance 
as is done for hospital wards. 
We do acknowledge that increasing Paramedics and Advanced Paramedics will 
require additional funding from UK government and we further acknowledge that this 
is outside of Welsh Governments control.

Conclusion 7 
In providing unscheduled care, health boards and the Welsh Ambulance Services 
NHS Trust must take account of the patient’s individual needs. Health boards and the 
Welsh Ambulance Services NHS Trust must ensure that assessment, care and 
treatment are provided in ways which meet the patient’s individual needs, and help 
them achieve their optimum outcome. This should include appropriate use of 
assessment, care and treatment provided in the community, as well as hospital-based 
provision. 

Accept 
I welcome the Committee’s conclusion that more needs to be done collectively to treat 
patients as close to home as possible, with a focus on a patient’s individual needs to avoid 
unnecessary conveyance by emergency ambulance to hospital. We have published our 
national plan for a primary care service for Wales to help drive this. 
Underpinned by the principles of prudent healthcare and those featured in the primary care 
plan, the five-stage ambulance patient care pathway in the quality and delivery framework 
describes EASC’s expectations for how the ambulance service should provide services to 
Welsh residents. WAST is expected to meet a series of core requirements, quality measures 
and clinical indicators described under each of the five stages. 
The five-step ambulance patient care pathway clearly marks out WAST’s emergency 
ambulance service as a clinical service within the wider integrated Welsh healthcare system, 
and forms part of a multiagency, collaborative approach between health boards and WAST 
to develop high-performing pre-hospital clinical services. It is intended to ensure patients 
receive the right care, at the right time from the right clinician to achieve the optimum 
outcome for every patient. 
Significant work has been undertaken as part of the clinical modernisation of emergency 
ambulance services to improve assessment of patients in the community through the 
development of a number of initiatives and tools. Emergency department consultants and 
paramedics triage calls that may be better dealt with closer to home. Alongside this the 
introduction of the Manchester Triage System to clinical contact centres to provide enhanced 

Pack Page 51



6

clinical assessment of patients. WAST has also implemented the Paramedic Pathfinder tool. 
This allows the use of a range of safe, consistent and clinically safe, triage and evidence-
based processes, which enable paramedics to conduct accurate face-to-face assessment of 
individual patient's care needs, when they arrive on scene, allowing them to refer to other 
healthcare settings in the community where appropriate. 
Alternative care pathways for patients with resolved epilepsy resolved hypoglycaemia and 
for patients who have fallen are now supported by WAST in all health board areas with 
several thousand patients being safely referred to an appropriate healthcare setting other 
than hospital. These and similar initiatives has resulted in WAST non-conveyance rates 
which are now among the highest in the UK, conserving precious emergency care capacity 
to respond to patients who have a clinical need for a timely response and relieving pressure 
on Emergency Departments. 

We totally agree with this approach.  However as stated above one of the main 
barriers is staffing numbers. There needs to be an increase in the numbers of staff 
qualified to the appropriate level to action the clinical model. This problem is not 
unique to Wales but we can lead the way by allocating the appropriate resources to 
the training of new staff, the upskilling of present staff to ensure the appropriate 
response is given to those requesting help from the service.  Again we recognise that 
this is a question of finances and that the financial constraints placed on Welsh 
Government by the UK government make increasing staffing numbers and training / 
up banding an almost impossible challenge.

Closing statement

We are most appreciative for this chance to comment on these issues, issues which are very 
complex in nature. As a union we fully support WAST and the Welsh Government efforts in 
terms of the direction WAST is moving in.  We also fully acknowledge and recognise the 
massive challenges that WAST faces in terms of funding and in terms of medical issues. 
Understandably our members do raise concerns about the pace of some aspects of change.  
This is impart due to historic issues with regards to morale  though we are pleased to note 
that it is gradually improving as a result of both the innovations and work done by WAST and 
Welsh Government. 

The Paramedic profession is very young profession, when compared to nursing for instance, 
and has huge potential to improve outcomes and benefit patients both in the Acute/ Critical 
care arena and the management of chronic conditions in the community.  We fully support all 
efforts to both utilise and enhance the skills of our members and we believe by doing so 
patients will get a better service and pressure will be taken off other parts of the NHS.  If 
funding were available we believe that more should be done in this regard. 

Finally we need to reiterate that the Ambulance service along with the NHS and Public 
Services in general has been hit by funding cuts in real terms for many years.  This is as a 
direct result of UK government funding and we fully accept that the Welsh Government and 
WAST have no control over this. 

Pack Page 52



National Assembly for Wales / Cynulliad Cenedlaethol Cymru
Health and Social Care Committee / Y Pwyllgor Iechyd a Gofal Cymdeithasol

Follow-up inquiry into the performance of Ambulance Services in Wales / 
Ymchwiliad dilynol i berfformiad Gwasanaethau Ambiwlans Cymru
Evidence from Royal College of Nursing – PAS(F)02 / Tystiolaeth gan Coleg 
Nyrsio Brenhinol – PAS(F)02

Follow-up inquiry into the performance of ambulance services in Wales.

Submission from the Royal College of Nursing, Wales
Presented to the National Assembly for Wales Health & Social Care 

Committee

ABOUT THE ROYAL COLLEGE OF NURSING (RCN)

The RCN is the world’s largest professional union of nurses, representing over 400,000 nurses, 
midwives, health visitors, nursing students and healthcare support workers, with over 25,000 members 
in Wales. The majority of RCN members work in the NHS with around a quarter working in the 
independent sector. The RCN works locally, nationally and internationally to promote standards of care 
and the interests of patients and nurses, and of nursing as a profession. The RCN is a UK-wide 
organisation, with its own National Boards for Wales, Scotland and Northern Ireland. The RCN is a 
major contributor to nursing practice, standards of care, and public policy as it affects health and 
nursing.

The RCN represents nurses and nursing, promotes excellence in practice and shapes health policies.                                                    

Pack Page 53

http://www.senedd.assembly.wales/mgCommitteeDetails.aspx?ID=227
http://www.senedd.cynulliad.cymru/mgCommitteeDetails.aspx?ID=227
http://www.senedd.assembly.wales/mgIssueHistoryHome.aspx?IId=012206
http://www.senedd.cynulliad.cymru/mgIssueHistoryHome.aspx?IId=012206


2

INTRODUCTION

The RCN recognises the immense pressure in providing holistic healthcare is to be 
able to provide for unscheduled care. This requires all those involved in health 
delivery, including preventative health and social care services, to recognise and plan 
for the challenges presented by unscheduled demands on the service provided. 

One of the largest contributors to this provision is the Welsh Ambulance Service Trust 
(WAST). It is an historic and continual challenge to ensure that other partners care, 
including those strategically planning and operationally running A&E, the care home 
sector, acute hospital provision, primary care and community nursing care recognise 
how the services they run impact on WAST operations. In the last decade of primarily 
acute service reorganisation there has been a failure to include the ambulance 
emergency services in planning. In addition demographic and changes to the complex 
nature of care required have also had their impact e.g. all care services are now 
generally responding to a much older and frailer patients with usually complex co-
morbidities such as dementia, diabetes etc. 

This has resulted in the service always having to ‘run’ to catch up, and in many 
circumstances they have not been able to do so. 

EIGHT CHALLENGES TO WAST

1. Performance Indicators  

The revised Clinical Response Model went live on the 1st October 2015. As part of this 
all Ops staff are utilising Digipen technology which will allow a much more timely 
analysis of PCR’s to be able to report on agreed quality outcome targets and providing 
feedback to staff on their performance thus improving/maintaining quality standards. 
To date the Red standard remains in excess of 65%, and work will soon commence 
to look at the quality indicators/patient outcomes going forward.  

The Clinical Modernisation Board Programme is closely monitoring the effects of the 
effect of the changes in the model and EASC (Chair of EASC is Siobhan McClelland 
and Commissioner is Stephen Harry) are monitoring additionally. 

It is the view of the Royal College of Nursing that the patient should receive the most 
appropriate clinical response to deliver the best outcome. The new system may help 
remove inefficiency and perverse consequences from the system and may help deliver 
better patient outcomes. It is important the new system continue to have the 
assessment and judgment of a registered clinical professional at its heart. We look 
forward to a robust evaluation. 

Transparent and accessible performance indicators for any public funded service are 
extremely important. They show the outcomes achieved, can drive up performance 
and are necessary for future planning. The new system should not mean that this 
transparency is lost. 

Pack Page 54



3

2. Accountability and Engagement  

WAST requires greater engagement with Health Boards to ensure that they are 
involved in discussions at the earliest opportunity where health board actions are likely 
to have an impact on its service. There are early indications of greater engagement 
and more importantly an appetite to do things differently. We believe the work of EASC 
is playing positively into this dynamic. However when considering service change 
(particularly at short notice) a transferral of funding that is inclusive of the impact on 
ability to provide the service WAST should be considered.

There is also excellent work ongoing in developing clinical pathway such as those for 
Neck of Femur, Mental Health, and End of Life Care whilst clinical pathways for stroke 
and Myocardial Infarction are relatively well established. A clinical pathway is the care 
pathway the patient may already be on, and if this is known, the patient is directed to 
that area instead of Accident & Emergency. 

A major benefit of this is the ability of paramedics to refer patients to other sources of 
help than A&E. Paramedic Pathfinder is being introduced across Wales. This is an 
excellent initiative but, of course, it relies on the existence of agreed clinical pathways 
to refer patients into. 

The skill set of paramedics is also an issue and even today, paramedics are leaving 
education having been trained in the traditional way to deal with the top 10% of 
demand which is the high end trauma or cardiac arrest etc. Instead responding to 
chronic disease management should be the emphasis. 

Advanced Paramedic Practitioners (APP’s) are an important part of the team response 
however numbers of these are low within the Trust with just 6 APP’s. There is a 
requirement for workforce planning to recognise this skill set and to ensure that these 
skills are more widely available within the service. 

3. Leadership, organisational change and staffing

Whilst progress has been made in reviewing rota’s this process did not deliver the 
financial savings which were forecast. The Revised Clinical Response Model (RCM) 
may suggest further rota reviews are needed in order to align both resources (vehicles) 
and staff resource (skill mix) given the revised approach. With the evolvement of the 
111 service, there will be a need to ensure the employment of additional nurses as 
early clinical input in 999 calls is critical to appropriate outcomes. Indeed, given the 
reliance on professional nursing advice it is vital that the Nurse Director remains a 
member of the Executive Board to ensure professional accountability for that clinical 
input and appropriate strategic advice.

4. Non-emergency patient transport 

The RCN supports the recommendation of separating non-emergency patient 
transport from emergency ambulance provision. However there appears to be no 
appetite from the health Boards to take on the provision of non-emergency transport. 
We are also aware that WAST is currently working up a business case to retain the 

Pack Page 55



4

Non-Emergency Patient Transport Services (NEPTS) albeit however, with this service  
disaggregated from EMS Ops and with robust and separate line management and 
leadership. It would be helpful to all in the NHS to have a clear policy statement from 
Welsh Government on their intentions for this service. 

5. Patient Handover 

This is still an area of high challenge for the NHS. Major delays are still happening 
such as that of the weekend of 03/04 October 2015 when the patient flow in Betsi 
Cadwaldr ground entirely to a halt. Help was required from both Chester & Shrewsbury 
at this time. A review of a like for like period in October 2014 shows a similar pattern 
which demonstrates that the challenges to providing the service are not diminishing. 
October 2014 had a 6,860 handovers with a total lost hours of 1,082.85. The 
corresponding period in 2015 shows 6,595 handovers with a total lost hours of 
1,174.08. The number of handovers is down but with an increase of lost hours. It is 
also important to note the ‘lost hours’ measurement does not fully capture the costs of 
prolonged job cycles or the effect of the emergency vehicle leaving its footprint. 

A scoping exercise is currently being conducted within WAST to look at “Card 35” work 
calls to see how WAST can improve the patient experience. Card 35 refers to a specific 
protocol in the Medical Priority Despatch System. Card 35 is used by health care 
professionals to determine the response time for a call coded as Green 3 – usually a 
parameter of between 1 to 4 hours. An emerging recommendation may well be to 
commission a dedicated desk to manage all Card 35 work. 

Too often ‘leaders’ in the health service resort to calling for WAST to solve the 
handover problem without regard to issues of patient safety at stake. Nor is the matter 
simply one of recalcitrant A&E staff. A patient must be safe. If there are not enough 
nursing staff available in A&E then the paramedic is required to wait with the patient. 
If there is no bed or trolley available the ambulance trolley is still needed. Utilising 
corridors or unsuitable treatment rooms to place patients would mean that vital 
lifesaving equipment may not in reach and again the patient would be potentially safer 
in the ambulance. 

However if the patient is assessed in the ambulance by a nurse (an environment and 
equipment they may not be familiar with) is that nurse on WAST property and therefore 
operating out with any governance procedure of the Health Board? 

This is an area that requires a major review and it is the view of the Royal College of 
Nursing in Wales that a central issue is a lack of sufficient capacity (in terms of both 
the physical environment and also the number of medical and nursing staff employed) 
in A&E facilities in Wales. Clearly there are other significant issues which impact on 
this problem. Some of these we have already alluded to in this paper and some of 
which, such as the need for nursing care beds to reduce delayed discharges the 
Committee will be aware of from previous Inquires. However RCN Wales is calling for 
a national review of A&E planning and provision. 

Pack Page 56



5

6. Models of deployment 

The ‘return to footprint’ Cwm Taf Pilot has now rolled into Aneurin Bevan Health Board. 
Results so far appear to be very favourable showing work has become aligned to the 
skillset of the responding crew i.e. areas do not ‘lose’ trained paramedics to simple 
conveyances to hospital. 

7. Frequent callers  

To successfully resolve this issue will require the engagement of social care services, 
community nursing teams, GP surgeries, and specialist multi-disciplinary dedicated 
teams (e.g. falls or end of life) 

WAST are currently exploring using registered nurses as an option to facilitate falls 
assessments. We believe this is a very positive model. 

WAST does utilise registered nurses to triage low acuity green 3 calls presenting in 
Emergency Medical Services (EMS) and transferred via technology to NHS Direct 
Wales. Of all the calls taken by these nurses approximately 50% are triaged away 
from EMS. Of the 50% of calls that continue to EMS approximately 50% receive a 
scheduled response from EMS or PCS/Taxi. 

For example in the 4 week period 07/09 to 04/10, 2364 calls transferred to NHSDW, 
1140 were directed away from EMS, 1224 returned to EMS of which 585 required an 
emergency response and 639 required scheduled transport (this can be with UCS, 
NEPTS or even Taxi). In addition WAST also run a clinical hub where both nurses & 
paramedics triage calls utilising the Manchester Telephony Triage System which again 
finds alternative pathways or alters the required timeline for response on clinical need. 

If there were more care options (or clinical pathways) for the nurses to refer callers to 
this would resolve more calls without recourse to either A&E admission or ambulance 
transport. For example in Aneurin Bevan Health Board at present no telephone based 
assessment to refer a caller into a care pathway is permitted, instead referral can only 
be made following a face to face assessment by a paramedic. Another example would 
be an immobile patient simply requiring an antibiotic or pain relief prescription. If the 
community nursing team does not include a prescriber or if the GP cannot make a 
home visit then an ambulance will have to be dispatched to admit the patient. 

8. Anticipating demand for services 

WAST submitted an IMTP to WG for approval that outlines future developments. The 
RCN would like to draw the Committee’s attention to two factors which, if achieved, 
we believe will deliver improvements in service.  

The first is ensure that the NHS Direct Wales approach of using registered nurses to 
advise and triage calls is applied to the new 111 service. Experience has clearly shown 
(and the statistical evidence of many years demonstrates this) that results in far lower 
rates of referral to A&E/999 calls than that from out-of-hours GP services.   

Pack Page 57



6

The second point is related to this. Previously NHS Direct Wales triaged calls for the 
GP out of hour’s services for Gwent, Swansea, Gwynedd & Anglesey. There were 
clear and consistent KPI’s applied and a performance management framework to 
ensure appropriateness of referral for the patient. Indeed at one point a national out of 
hours service was envisaged. Now however Wales appears to have fragmented its 
out of hours services once more. It is not clear on the comparable cost of this or its 
impact on WAST referrals but previous evidence would suggest that non-clinically run 
out of services tend to result in a higher level of emergency referrals.  

Pack Page 58



National Assembly for Wales / Cynulliad Cenedlaethol Cymru 

Health and Social Care Committee / Y Pwyllgor Iechyd a Gofal Cymdeithasol 

Follow-up inquiry into the performance of Ambulance Services in Wales / 

Ymchwiliad dilynol i berfformiad Gwasanaethau Ambiwlans Cymru

Evidence from Emergency Ambulance Services Committee – PAS(F)04 / 

Tystiolaeth gan Bwyllgor Gwasanaethau Ambiwlans Brys – PAS(F)04 

Emergency Ambulance Services Committee response to the Health and Social 

Care Committee inquiry into the performance of the ambulance services. 

Introduction: 

1. Ambulance commissioning in Wales is a collaborative process underpinned by a
national collaborative commissioning quality and delivery framework. All seven
Health Boards have signed up to the framework.

2. The framework provides a mechanism to support the recommendations of the
2013 McClelland review of ambulance services. It puts in place a structure which
is clear and directly aligned to the delivery of better care.  The framework
introduces clear accountability for the provision of emergency ambulance
services and sees the Chief Ambulance Services Commissioner (CASC) and the
Emergency Ambulance Services Committee (EASC) acting on behalf of health
boards and holding WAST to account as the provider of emergency ambulance
services.

3. WAST is required to meet a number of quality standards, core financial
requirements and outcome indicators under each step of the innovative
ambulance service care pathway – the 5 step model.

4. This submission provides clarity on the progress to date of EASC and especially
the questions raised by the committee following its previous enquiry regarding
ambulance services in Wales.

5. Performance measures must be clinically appropriate and take sufficient
account of patient outcomes. The work announced by the Minister to
review ambulance response measures should be rapid, clinically led and
informed by best practice and be designed to enable benchmarking across
the UK where possible.

Pack Page 59

Agenda Item 3

http://www.senedd.assembly.wales/mgCommitteeDetails.aspx?ID=227
http://www.senedd.cynulliad.cymru/mgCommitteeDetails.aspx?ID=227
http://www.senedd.assembly.wales/mgIssueHistoryHome.aspx?IId=012206
http://www.senedd.cynulliad.cymru/mgIssueHistoryHome.aspx?IId=012206


 

2 
 

6. The ambulance clinical model pilot commenced as of 1 October 2015. A letter 
provided to Assembly Members in advance of the launch is appended to this 
submission. This pilot has retained time based performance measurers for life 
threatening conditions where immediate treatment is required to save life, for 
example a cardiac arrest or patient who is choking.  

 
7. For other conditions the Minister has acted upon clinical evidence and the 

recommendations of the McClelland review and opted for measurement of the 
quality of care provided by the ambulance service.  

 
8. A review of the pilot has been commissioned via EASC. This review is examining 

three key areas: 
a. The standard of clinical care and clinical outcomes 
b. Patient experience 
c. Value for money 

9. The specification for this evaluation has been reviewed by relevant subject matter 
experts both from the UK and internationally. 
 

10. EASC collates data from WAST against 23 Ambulance Quality Indicators. These 
indicators track WAST clinical and operational delivery against a number of key 
metrics. These will be published quarterly via EASC with the first release due in 
January 2016 covering the period 1 October 2015 – 31 December 2015.  
 

11. EASC has engaged the NHS Benchmarking organisation to provide an 
assessment of the AQI performance across Wales.  
 

12. The measurement of ambulance services in England is currently under review 
with a pilot running to test some of the changes already made in Wales. This 
makes full benchmarking of cross nation performance difficult. The clinical 
indicator performance is capable of being benchmarked.  
 

13. All Health Boards must be fully engaged with the work of WAST through 
EASC and directly with the Trust on a local level. Health Boards must take 
due account of the impact on WAST when developing new services. 
 

14. All seven Health Boards are engaged with EASC.  EASC is provided in line with 
the Emergency Ambulance Services Committee (Wales) Regulations 2014. 
These regulations require that “seven Local Health Boards in Wales work jointly 

to exercise functions relating to the planning and securing of emergency 

ambulance services” The Emergency Ambulance Services Committee is 
attended by each of the NHS Wales Chief Executives. These meetings are bi-
monthly. 
 

15. EASC is supported by three sub committees: 

Pack Page 60



3 

a. The Quality Assurance and Improvement Panel ensures that service
improvement ideas are clinically sound, offer good value for money and will
improve patient experience. QAIP are promoting service change ideas which
achieve a shift of activity from traditional hospital based care after conveyance
by ambulance to increased rates of self care, telephone based care, on scene
resolution or referral to a community based service. QAIP is attended by
WAST the Commissioning team and is supported by Academy Wales and
academic expertise.

b. The Performance Delivery Group is attended by the Chief Operating
Officers/Directors of Operations from the seven Health Boards. Within this
group, chaired by CASC, Commissioners & WAST considers current
performance & advise EASC of a common position. The group will provide
appropriate challenge regarding performance and agree corrective actions
and escalation.

c. The Collaborative Commissioning Group is attended by ambulance
commissioning champions from each Health Board. These champions
represent primary care, planning, commissioning and community care
functions within Health Boards. This group manages, maintains & monitors
the implementation and development of the National Collaborative
Commissioning: Quality & Delivery Framework. It is chaired by the CASC.

16. This process delivers a collaborative agreement signed off by WAST, EASC and
the seven Health Boards of NHS Wales.

Quality Assurance & Improvement Panel 

Collaborative 

Commissioning 

Delivery Group 

(CCDG) 

Performance 

Delivery Group 

(PDG) 

Emergency Ambulance 

Services Committee 

(EASC)

Pack Page 61



 

4 
 

EASC, WAST and the Health Boards must work together to reduce handover 
delays. The new handover policy must be implemented consistently. 

17. Handover performance for the year 2014/15 is as follows: 

 

18. The CASC through EASC has led the development of total minutes lost as the 
currency for measuring handover delay rather than the previous cruder numbers 
of vehicles delayed. This is important because the number of ambulances 
delayed does not fully depict the effect and cost to WAST of handover delay.  
 

19. Ambulance handover performance is monitored via the Ambulance Quality 
Indicators. This is a key agenda item at the Performance Delivery Group ensuring 
that health board Chief Operating Officers and WAST are actively engaged in 
managing process to ensure efficient discharge of ambulances at hospital.   
 

20. Whilst EASC retains this strategic focus, the day to day implementation and 
operational delivery of the handover guidance is the responsibility of the health 
boards and WAST.   
 

21. CASC, EASC and WAST must urgently address the issue of ambulances 
being pulled away from their areas.  The “return to footprint” pilot should 
be explored on a wider basis.  
 

22. The Cwm Taf Explorer project tested the principle of retaining ambulance 
resources within their home Health Board area.  

Pack Page 62



 

5 
 

 
23. The Explorer trial has improved responses to both immediately life threatening 

calls and also planned admissions undertaken on behalf of healthcare 
professionals. A full review of the trial has been undertaken by WAST and Cwm 
Taf UHB. 

 
24. The ring fencing of resources necessitated additional staffing which was sourced 

from private ambulance providers.   
 

25. The clinical outcomes of this project are now being considered by EASC via 
QAIP with a view to recruiting NHS staff to allow the improvements to continue on 
a more cost efficient basis. Further work is required to understand the 
applicability of such an operational model outside of this defined geographical 
area.  

 
26. WAST and the Health Boards must ensure that care and treatment are 

provided in ways which meet the patients individual needs. This should 
include appropriate use of community as well as hospital based provision.  

 
27. The ambulance service care pathway (5 step model) is as follows: 

 

28. The 5 step model of ambulance service delivery is measured by the 23 
Ambulance Quality Indicators.  
 

29. The pathway starts with prevention of ambulance calls at Step 1 by encouraging 
signposting to other services through citizen engagement. 

Pack Page 63



 

6 
 

30. At step 2 the pathway aims to maximise the number of patients who have their 
health needs managed via “hear and treat” consultations over the telephone. 
Increasingly across the UK ambulance services are investing in placing 
Paramedics and Nurses into the control room environment to provide advice to 
low acuity callers. In Wales this mechanism reduces ambulance dispatch rates by 
around 400 calls per week.  
 

31. Step 3 and 4 concern the treatment provided to the patient by a “see, treat and 
refer” or preferably “see and treat” response. Ambulance crews are able to refer 
patients with health needs that do not require attendance at hospital units to 
community services such as the District Nurse or Out of Hours GP service. In 
some cases the ambulance crew will be able to provide treatment to resolve the 
patients needs at the scene with no further onward referral. WAST currently 
conveys around 61% of 999 patients to hospital. 
 

32. Step 5 of the model should involve the smallest number of patients as these are 
cases where the patient requires conveyance to hospital. WAST currently 
conveys around 61% of 999 patients to hospital. 
 

33. The improvement schemes identified via QAIP are designed to provide a non 
conveyance solution for some patients and decrease the use of emergency 
ambulances for others. The system requires a shift from conveyance to patient 
education and self help to increase opportunities for community care. Health can 
learn from the successes of Fire and Rescue in this area who has reduced their 
fire response by community safety improvements.  
 

34. Engagement with communities by WAST is key to this process as well as 
ensuring that other key stakeholders such as Community Health Councils and 
third sector are well briefed. Measuring WAST community engagement is a key 
part of the information gathered within the AQIs. The performance of WAST 
against this objective is measured on a monthly basis through the activity and 
care model schedules of the CAREMORE process. This information is scrutinised 
by EASC and specific development ideas are taken forward via QAIP.  
 

35. In order for this process to be successful further work is required within WAST to 
ensure that all clinically appropriate alternatives to conveyance to hospital are 
actively discounted and with Health Boards to ensure that all community services 
accept referrals from WAST.  
 

36. An excellent example of progress in this area is the opening up of a referral 
pathway between WAST and the Cardiff and Vale Mental Health Crisis Team. 
This pathway has been operating for 12 months and so far 132/164 patients have 
received specialist mental health care and not required conveyance to hospital 
via WAST.  This is more efficient for the ambulance service and the Health Board 

Pack Page 64



7 

but more importantly a much better experience and clinically appropriate solution 
to the needs of vulnerable patients.  

37. The QAIP process has recommended that this pathway is extended into all seven
health board areas.

38. EASC, WAST and the Health Boards should undertake robust and effective
forward planning which takes anticipated demographic changes into
account.

39. The WAST Integrated Medium Term Plan (IMTP) has been signed off via EASC
for one year.  Future IMTP submissions from WAST will be subject to scrutiny
and sign off by EASC via the CASC.  This will ensure a joined up approach to
planning and the QAIP and collaborative commissioning framework.

40. Health Board IMTP and other key planning documents such as winter plans are
required to demonstrate how ambulance demand will be managed.  The 5 step
model provides an ideal way of describing key actions and reinforces the design
of services to centre on steps 1-3 reducing the use of conveyance to hospital

Pack Page 65



 
 
 

 
 

Dear  
 
 

Following Ministerial approval, the Welsh Ambulance Services NHS Trust will 
commence a pilot of a new clinical model on 1 October 2015. This 
announcement follows the McClelland review of ambulance services in 2013 
and the NHS England ambulance response pilot changes in 2014. This letter 
provides additional clinical and operational detail regarding the pilot in Wales. 
Individual briefings can be provided for members as required. These can be 
arranged via the office of the Chief Ambulance Services Commissioner 
(CASC) by contacting   
 
The current ambulance service model has a performance management 
framework which has its origins in 1974 when the ambulance service became 
part of the NHS. The ambulance service is currently managed on how long it 
takes to get an ambulance to a 999 call. There is no measurement of the 
quality of the care provided or the eventual outcome for the patient. This has 
led to a situation where a fast response with a poor patient outcome is 
recorded as a success but a longer response with an excellent clinical 
outcome a failure.  
 
Ambulance services have changed immeasurably since 1974. Ambulance 
Paramedics and other clinical staff provide sophisticated assessment and 
care both face to face and over the telephone to patients.  The provision of 
ambulance services in Wales has similarly developed. The McClelland review 
of 2013 brought about the creation of the Emergency Ambulance Services 
Committee (EASC) and the first ever ambulance service National 
Collaborative Commissioning Quality and Delivery Framework Agreement.  
 
The design of the new clinical model was led by Dr Brendan Lloyd, WAST 
Executive Medical Director. The process was informed by advice received in 
England by Professor Keith Willets the UK Government Unscheduled Care 
Lead and also correspondence between Dr Bruce Keogh the NHS England 
CMO and Chief Executive. The proposals in WAST build upon a trial of a 
revised ambulance response model in two areas of England where clinical 
benefits have been reported.   
 
The design of the new model included consultation with the Association of 
Ambulance Chief Executives, Welsh BMA, Royal College of Emergency 
Medicine, Royal College of Nursing and College of Paramedics. WAST trades 

Your ref/eich 

cyf: 
 

Our ref/ein cyf: QAITEASC/30092015/A

M’s 

Date/dyddiad:  30/09/2015 

Tel/ffôn: 02920 

Fax/ffacs:  

Email/ebost:  

  

Pack Page 66



union organisations are supportive of a move to measuring clinical outcomes 
rather than time based response standards.  This pilot will be quality assured 
and monitored by EASC via the CASC. 
 
The pilot will assess the clinical and experience outcomes for patients in three 
categories of ambulance call: 
 
RED Calls will be those incidents where the patient’s life can be saved by a 
fast response and immediate clinical care from the ambulance service and 
first responders.  Conditions such as cardiac arrest, catastrophic bleeding, 
unconsciousness or choking are examples of this type of call. Modelling 
shows there will be around 60 of these calls per day across Wales. These 
calls will remain subject to the current 8 minute response standard. This 
information will continue to be published on a monthly basis. 
 
AMBER Calls will be incidents where following assessment the patient 
requires transfer to specialist care such as an Emergency Department, 
Cardiac Catheterisation Laboratory, stroke unit or maternity unit. Some amber 
patients will receive a secondary telephone triage from a nurse or paramedic 
which will provide a better indication of the response they require. There will 
be around 700 amber calls per day. Amber calls which require face to face 
assessment will receive a blue light emergency response, usually from an 
ambulance capable of conveying the patient to treatment and will be 
measured by clinical indicators. A clinical indicator consists of the 
performance of WAST clinicians on meeting a series of metrics for a given 
condition. As an example the stroke care bundle comprises: 
 

1. FAS Test completed. 
2. Blood Sugar Measured (low blood sugar can mimic a stroke) 
3. Blood pressure measurement 
4. Level of consciousness assessment 
5. The number of FAS Test positive patients taken to a hospital which 

provides acute stroke care on arrival.  

Following significant capital investment, (£1.1m) WAST has introduced digital 
pen technology to 1750 clinical staff that allows for immediate capture of this 
data at the patients side. This will ensure that clinical indicator data is 
available to local communities in a timely manner. For many conditions, heart 
attack and stroke being the most prominent the NICE guidance mandates 
specialist treatment being provided within specified timeframes. It is important 
that WAST plays its part in ensuring that the right patients are taken to the 
right treatment centre to achieve this.   
 
GREEN Calls will continue to be either low acuity calls, the majority of which 
require telephone assessment and self help advice or referral to another NHS 
provider such as primary care, or pre- planned journeys to admit patients to 
hospital or transfer patients from one hospital to another.  
The current model is exclusively focussed on an eight minute response. This 
paradoxically leads to many patients with less serious conditions waiting 

Pack Page 67



longer for an ambulance as WAST has to dispatch multiple resources to the 
high volumes of category A calls to meet the A8 target. Under the pilot model 
WAST will continue to dispatch resources to red calls as soon as the patient’s 
condition is known to be life threatening. This will often be achieved by 
technology in the call taking systems which listen out for key phrases from 
callers which signal serious conditions. For amber and green calls no 
response will be made to a call until the ambulance call taker has finished the 
questioning of the patient and a full MPDS dispatch code (MPDS – Medical 
priority Dispatch System) has been reached. This process will take a 
maximum of 120 seconds to complete.  Taking this additional time to identify 
the patient’s needs will allow WAST to send the right resource for the patients 
needs.  

There are clinical and experience benefits to patients from this change. More 
patients will receive telephone advice from a nurse or paramedic. At present 
the need to get to calls within 8 minutes means that there is not sufficient time 
to provide a quality telephone clinical assessment. Under the new model a 
number of MPDS codes (Approximately 385 per week) have been identified 
for which a telephone assessment is preferable to sending an ambulance. 
This will provide an improved experience for the patient as well as releasing 
the ambulance resource to attend a call where an ambulance is required.  

Ambulance crews are currently responded to incidents once the address is 
known but whilst the MPDS code information is still being gathered. This will 
continue to be the case for red emergencies. For amber and green calls a 
clinically led analysis has been made of all 1800 MPDS codes to identify what 
the ideal response to the patients needs is. This might be an ambulance, an 
advanced paramedic practitioner, a taxi or, as previously identified, secondary 
telephone triage from a nurse or paramedic.  This review has been informed 
by the UK Ambulance Medical Directors group as well as learning from 
concerns and serious incidents. This will mean that once an ambulance is 
dispatched to a call it will go directly to the incident scene. Currently crews are 
stood down and diverted from one incident to another because they are 
dispatched before the true acuity of the situation is known. This has been 
identified as a key factor in work place stress for ambulance staff.  

The performance management of WAST will continue in line with the 
Collaborative Commissioning Quality and Delivery Framework Agreement. 
The Ambulance Quality Indicators within this framework provide an effective, 
clinical and quality focussed method of ensuring that WAST is providing 
effective patient care as well as playing its full part in the wider unscheduled 
care services in Wales. Clinical indicators are already reported for stroke, 
fractured hip and heart attack care. The introduction of digital pen technology 
for WAST clinical staff has greatly improved the timeliness of information 
being received and therefore the production of clinical indicator reports. 
Clinical indicator information will be published on a quarterly basis via EASC.  

An independent evaluation of the model has been requested by the Deputy 
Minister via the EASC group. This evaluation will ensure that a robust and 
rigorous assessment of the new arrangements is made. The evaluation will 

Pack Page 68



combine clinical outcomes with patient satisfaction and an assessment of the 
value for money and contribution to the overall efficiency of NHS Wales that 
this change to the ambulance service brings.  
 
I hope you will agree that this pilot is clinically sound and will allow the 
ambulance service to deliver better care for patients and play its part in the 
wider unscheduled care system of Wales.  
 
Yours sincerely, 
 

 
 
 

Mr Stephen Harrhy 
Chief Ambulance Service Commissioner 
Prif Gomisiynydd y Gwasanaethau Ambiwlans 

 

 
 

Pack Page 69



National Assembly for Wales / Cynulliad Cenedlaethol Cymru
Health and Social Care Committee / Y Pwyllgor Iechyd a Gofal Cymdeithasol

Follow-up inquiry into the performance of Ambulance Services in Wales / 
Ymchwiliad dilynol i berfformiad Gwasanaethau Ambiwlans Cymru
Evidence from Welsh NHS Confederation – PAS(F)05 / Tystiolaeth gan 
Conffederasiwn GIG Cymru – PAS(F)04

Introduction
1. The Welsh NHS Confederation, on behalf of its members, welcomes the opportunity to 

respond to the follow-up inquiry into the performance of ambulance services in Wales. 
Our response will highlight the progress that has been made by Local Health Boards across 
Wales and the Welsh Ambulance Services NHS Trust (WAST) to bring about improvements 
in the eight key areas identified during the initial inquiry conducted by the Health and 
Social Care Committee in March 2015.  

2. By representing the seven Health Boards and three NHS Trusts in Wales, the Welsh NHS 
Confederation brings together the full range of organisations that make up the modern 
NHS in Wales. Our aim is to reflect the different perspectives as well as the common views 
of the organisations we represent. 

3. The Welsh NHS Confederation supports our members to improve health and well-being 
by working with them to deliver high standards of care for patients and best value for 
taxpayers’ money. We act as a driving force for positive change through strong 
representation and our policy, influencing and engagement work. Members’ involvement 
underpins all our various activities and we are pleased to have all Local Health Boards and 
NHS Trusts in Wales as our members.

4. The Welsh NHS Confederation and its members are committed to working with the Welsh 
Government and its partners to ensure there is a strong NHS which delivers high quality 
services to the people of Wales.

Summary
5. The role of WAST is to provide high quality pre-hospital and emergency care to the people 

of Wales. The Service is focused on delivering a clinically-led model of care, with a remit 
which extends beyond the traditional “transport” model of services to one which is firmly 
rooted in the overall unscheduled care system in Wales. 

6. As highlighted previously, in considering WAST current performance it is important to put 
it into the context of the overall unscheduled care system and the changing societal, 
demographic and financial landscape in which the WAST is operating. The issues that we 

The Welsh NHS Confederation response to the Health and Social Care Committee inquiry into 
the performance of the ambulance services.

Contact: Nesta Lloyd – Jones, Policy and Public Affairs Officer, the Welsh NHS Confederation.

Tel:  XXXXX XXXXXX

Date created: 6 November 2015

Pack Page 70

Agenda Item 4

http://www.senedd.assembly.wales/mgCommitteeDetails.aspx?ID=227
http://www.senedd.cynulliad.cymru/mgCommitteeDetails.aspx?ID=227
http://www.senedd.assembly.wales/mgIssueHistoryHome.aspx?IId=012206
http://www.senedd.cynulliad.cymru/mgIssueHistoryHome.aspx?IId=012206


2         
                                               

see with ambulance performance are not just about what the ambulance service does. 
There is pressure on the whole unscheduled care system which has sometimes led to 
handover delays at emergency units. Health Boards take responsibility for the whole of 
the unscheduled care pathway because they are able to determine, as integrated Health 
Boards, what happens at the front end of the service, including in primary and community 
settings, through to the flow through the hospital, which impacts on the numbers of 
ambulances waiting outside Accident and Emergency and the ability to hand over as 
quickly as is needed. 

7. Through the National Collaborative Commissioning Quality and Delivery Framework, 
WAST is working closely with Health Board colleagues to address the issues discussed by 
the Health and Social Care Committee in its initial inquiry in March 2015. As our response 
will highlight a number of the conclusions made by the Committee have been actioned by 
Health Boards and WAST. 

Conclusion 1: The Emergency Ambulance Services Committee, the Welsh Ambulance 
Services NHS Trust and local health boards must work together urgently to improve 
emergency ambulance response times and optimise patient outcomes. 
8. Since the initial inquiry, WAST and Health Boards have worked closely together to improve 

emergency ambulance response times. Overall ambulance performance has improved 
month on month over the course of 2015. 

9. The revised ambulance clinical model pilot began in October 2015. The pilot model 
measures the speed and quality of responses to life threatening calls and the quality of 
care for less serious conditions. This pilot is a UK first and sets the highest level of ambition 
for ambulance services in Wales as well as underpinning the need for ambulance services 
to be an integrated part of wider NHS services. 

10. Across Wales many new processes and initiatives have been put in place. The 
commissioning process for ambulance services in Wales has matured since the 
Committee’s initial inquiry into ambulance services. All seven Health Boards are engaged 
in this collaborative process via the Emergency Ambulance Services Committee (EASC) 
and its supporting sub committees. 

11. There are local service delivery initiatives in each Health Board area. Service improvement 
ideas are considered via the Quality Assurance Improvement Panel, or QAIP. This 
subcommittee of EASC has approved several schemes for pan Wales roll out. These are:

i. Mental Health Crisis pathway;
ii. Paramedic Pathfinder decision support tool;

iii. Improved arrangements for receiving and co-ordinating Healthcare Professional Calls;
iv. National co-ordination of frequent 999 caller management; and
v. Within the Cwm Taf University Health Board the “explorer” project has examined the 

effects of ring-fencing ambulance resources in their home Health Board area. 

12. The new initiatives across Local Health Boards are highlighted below:

Pack Page 71



3         
                                               

13. In Hywel Dda University Health Board (UHB) the Unscheduled Care Board, and its terms 
of reference, are being revised to ensure all acute, community, social services and WAST 
partners review pathway performance. This will be chaired by a Board Director.

14. In Aneurin Bevan UHB fortnightly meetings are held between the Chief Operating Officer, 
General Manager responsible for emergency services and the Ambulance Management 
Team to review performance and explore potential improvement opportunities. A 
comprehensive action plan has been developed to address a number of issues that impact 
on ambulance performance. 

15. Cardiff & Vale UHB has worked closely with WAST through its regular meetings with the 
Ambulance Commissioner and fortnightly local operational meetings. As part of this 
process the UHB has run local planning sessions in preparation for the introduction of the 
revised clinical model for WAST. The services have been aligned to support the new 
outcomes-based model and the Health Board continues to review processes to allow it to 
embed and succeed. Clinicians within the Health Board have been fully engaged in this 
process.  

16. A range of initiatives have been taken forward in Abertawe Bro Morgannwg UHB. These 
include:

i. A telehealth pilot is in place between WAST, 15 care homes and the GP out of hours 
service to provide additional support to care home staff to maintain residents within 
the care home, with the aim of reducing conveyances to hospital. This went live in 
April 2015 and there has been positive feedback from users of telehealth.

ii. A new pathway for mental health patients is being piloted in the Swansea/Neath Port 
Talbot localities from the 30th November 2015. This will ensure the appropriate 
conveyance of patients and the appropriate access to care.

iii. There are advice lines available for paramedic crews to speak to consultants to 
support clinical decision making.  

iv. Introduction of Paramedic Pathfinder. All WAST staff within ABMU Health Board have 
now been trained, with the exception of those on long term sick leave.

v. The development and introduction of structured directory of operating procedures 
within ABMU Health Board from July 2015 for WAST crews to ensure consistency of 
approach to conveyances to the appropriate health care environment. This is also now 
being extended to incorporate standard operating procedures for Prince Philip 
hospital to support decision making of ambulance personnel for patients on the 
hospital borders. 

vi. Ensuring WAST clinical team leaders are involved with the ambulatory care work being 
progressed on all hospital sites within the Health Board. 

vii. The planned introduction on the 30th November 2015 of a pilot to implement a 
dedicated ring-fenced urgent care service for GP expected patients in the Swansea 
and Neath Port Talbot areas who require conveyance by an ambulance. This will bring 
forward the conveyance of these patients to earlier in the day and help to smooth the 
arrival of patients at hospital. Experience in other Health Boards suggests that this 
change in the process/pathway supports earlier senior clinical review and 
investigation of patients, resulting in reduced length of stay, reduced hospital 
admissions and improved patient experience.

Pack Page 72



4         
                                               

viii. Additional WAST support has been secured to support the review of patients who 
have been identified as being frequently conveyed by ambulance to hospital from care 
homes. This work is being progressed jointly between WAST, the Health Board, care 
homes and GP out of hours service. 

ix. WAST staff have been trained to identify patients with long standing neurology 
conditions, resulting in a better patient experience for this group of patients.

x. The multi-agency help point plus service (Swansea) to support admission avoidance 
from the city centre at weekends/bank holidays. The service has been in place since 
the autumn 2014 and there is evidence that paramedic attendance at Wind Street in 
Swansea has reduced. 

xi. New pathways are being jointly developed between WAST, GP out of hours and the 
Health Board as part of the move towards the implementation of the 111 service next 
year.     

17. The Betsi Cadwaladr UHB Unscheduled Care Strategic Board and local Unscheduled Care 
groups’ terms of reference include acute, community, social service and WAST partners. 
All groups review unscheduled care performance and explore potential improvement 
opportunities. A comprehensive action plan has been developed to address a number of 
issues that impact on ambulance performance.

18. The relationship between Powys Teaching Health Board and WAST is slightly different 
from other Health Boards in that Powys does not manage any acute care services and has 
no Accident and Emergency Departments. The Health Board manages 10 Community 
Hospital facilities, with 176 largely rehabilitation beds, and including four Community 
Hospital based Minor Injuries Units. The Health Board’s Unscheduled Care Programme 
has a strategy of:

i. Keeping people healthy and living independently in their own homes and communities 
as much as possible, thus reducing inappropriate demand on more acute healthcare 
services, and

ii. Returning people back to their communities from acute care as quickly as safety 
allows, thus improving the flow through the healthcare system.

19. The Health Board has been reasonably successful in delivering this, reporting lower than 
Welsh average A&E attendances, emergency admissions per head of population and 
length of stay in acute care for emergency admissions and good rates of alternative use 
to both emergency ambulance and emergency care services.

20. The general level of performance against the traditional A8 target for Powys Health Board 
has generally been below 60%, however this figure tends to mask the impact of the 
rurality of the county and the dispersed nature of its population. For example, an analysis 
undertaken in June 2015 showed that although only 54% of A8 calls were reached within 
the required time, around 72% of those that were not were actually unreachable within 
the six minute drive time allowance because of where they lived. In effect this means that 
the Ambulance Services reached around 80% of those that could be reached within eight 
minutes. 

21. The rurality of Powys, and the fact that there are few large centres of population 
(Welshpool is the largest town with a population of just under 13,000) means that many 

Pack Page 73



5         
                                               

Powys residents cannot be reached within eight minutes, irrespective of system 
performance or resource deployment. This is an important, if subtle nuance to consider 
when reviewing performance in Powys.

22. For these reasons, amongst others, Powys Teaching Health Board welcomes the revised 
performance measures and also strongly endorses the recent decision by WAST to 
develop outcome measures that include survival rates for those transported to hospital 
by emergency ambulance.

23. In a broader context, and given the issues noted above, it is important to stress that in a 
county such as Powys, road quality is a hugely important factor and developments such 
as those that have occurred in the Heads of the Valleys in recent years are warmly 
welcomed. Access to services via these roads, particularly during periods of adverse 
weather, is an important factor in ensuring that transportation times to and from acute 
centres are kept to a minimum.  

24. Powys is fortunate in that most Ambulance Services staff based in Powys are residents of 
the county and understand the needs and anxieties of the local population. Concern has 
been expressed that as more specialist services provided by other Health Boards and 
Trusts move further away from our borders, through the current processes of 
consolidation and rationalisation, more ambulance time will be spent out of county.

25. A number of specific developments are being implemented or planned, as part of Powys 
teaching Health Board Unscheduled Care Improvement Action Plan, aimed at both 
reducing unnecessary demand of unscheduled care services and improving delivery 
performance, including ambulance service.

Conclusion 2: To maintain momentum and work towards a whole system approach to 
unscheduled care, all health boards must be fully engaged with the work of the Welsh 
Ambulance Services NHS Trust through the work of the Emergency Ambulance Services 
Committee on a national level, and directly with the Trust on a local level. 
26. There has been progress towards a whole system approach to unscheduled care across 

Wales and all Health Boards have been fully engaged with the work of WAST. All seven 
Health Boards are represented on two key sub committees of the main EASC group:

i. The Performance Delivery Group is attended by the Chief Operating Officers/Directors of 
Operations from the seven Health Boards. Within this group, chaired by Chief Ambulance 
Services Commissioner, Commissioners and WAST considers current performance and 
advise EASC of a common position. The group will provide appropriate challenge 
regarding performance and agree corrective actions and escalation. 

ii. The Collaborative Commissioning Group is attended by ambulance commissioning 
champions from each Health Board. These champions represent primary care, planning, 
commissioning and community care functions within Health Boards. This group manages, 
maintains and monitors the implementation and development of the National 
Collaborative Commissioning: Quality & Delivery Framework. It is chaired by the Chief 
Ambulance Services Commissioner.

Pack Page 74



6         
                                               

27. At a local tactical level WAST and Health Board managers are engaged. The examples of 
local work below demonstrate in more detail the outputs of this engagement: 

28. In Hywel Dda UHB, WAST are part of the Health Board’s plans for any changes in service. 
Recently Hywel Dda UHB had to change the borders in order to reduce the medical intake 
at Withybush hospital and WAST were part of the planning and ongoing review. This can 
be clearly evidenced from the early engagement with WAST following the changes to 
women and children’s services, and the commissioning of the dedicated vehicle based at 
Withybush, and more recently the temporary change to patient flows, due to staffing 
issues. 

29. The collaborative working between WAST and Primary Care within Hywel Dda UHB 
supports conclusions 2 and 7 within the initial Committee inquiry report. Within Hywel 
Dda UHB they have worked collaboratively with WAST to develop an Unscheduled Care 
Team which has now morphed into the Primary Care Support Team. Practices across 
Wales are facing workforce challenges and in many areas are not able to meet patient 
demand for appointments/home visits. This could be argued would have a knock on effect  
to WAST with a potential increase  for calls due to patients not being seen in a timely way 
and panic/concern setting in. Through the introduction of  the Advanced Practitioners into 
one GP practice, patients are being seen by  an appropriate Health Care Professional and 
75% of requested home visits are being seen by an Advanced Practitioner in a more timely 
way after an initial telephone triage with a GP (working in accordance with WAST Call 
prioritisation e.g. Green 1,2,3). This enables the patients to be seen within their home and 
reduces their anxiety and need to call for an ambulance.

30. Aneurin Bevan UHBs Senior managers who liaise with WAST participate in national and 
local joint working to explore and share best practice and interpret this for patients. WAST 
managers are part of the Health Board’s seasonal planning and local delivery plans in areas 
that will impact on WAST service. Examples of this are:

i. Members of Seasonal Planning Board;
ii. Members of Stroke Centralisation Board; and

iii. Member of Urgent Care Transformation Board.

31. In Cardiff & Vale UHB monthly meetings are held between the Health Board’s Chief 
Operating Officer and the ambulance commissioner to ensure that planning and 
operations are aligned. Where there are operational and planned changes that may affect, 
or improve, ambulance performance these are shared and discussed jointly, through the 
fortnightly joint operational meetings. Whole system implications of service change are 
duly considered.

32. In Abertawe Bro Morgannwg UHB monthly Unscheduled Care Delivery Meetings are 
chaired by the Chief Operating Officer with other members of the Executive Team, the 
WAST Head of Operations for Abertawe Bro Morgannwg UHB and senior clinical and 
operational managers. Local site based meetings involve operational colleagues from 
WAST as needed.

33. Betsi Cadwaladr UHB and WAST senior operational managers meet monthly to jointly 
plan and implement any changes in service. Recent changes managed in this way are 

Pack Page 75



7         
                                               

Paramedic Pathfinder and alternative conveyance projects aimed at reducing demand in 
the Emergency Departments. WAST managers are part of the Health Board’s seasonal 
planning and local delivery plans in areas that will impact on WAST service. In addition, 
WAST are a member of any group within the Health Board where they discuss 
unscheduled care.

34. Powys teaching Health Board has a number of mechanisms for engaging with WAST on 
an ongoing basis. These include:

i. Emergency Ambulance Service Committee: The EASC meetings are attended by the 
Director of Primary and Community Care, or Deputy, and the Health Board has 
contributed fully to the development of the Quality and Delivery Framework;

ii. Strategic Planning: WAST colleagues are involved in the development of the Health 
Board’s strategic plan and have contributed to a number of strategic planning 
workshops;

iii. Unscheduled Care Board: WAST colleagues are full and active members of the 
Unscheduled Care Board, which is responsible for the development and delivery of a 
joint Seasonal Pressures Plan and an Unscheduled Care Improvement Action Plan;

iv. Health Focus Groups: These provide an opportunity for the Health Board to engage 
with local communities on an ongoing basis. WAST has access to these arrangements 
via the Locality Teams on an ongoing basis and attend either to address issues of 
concern in the local community or to brief or inform local communities in relation to 
Ambulance Service changes;

v. Specific Consultations: Where major changes are planned and consultation is 
required, WAST colleagues are included as appropriate;

vi. Locality Management arrangements: Local links are strong between Health Board 
locality and WAST operational managers and this is reflected in the level of 
engagement in pathway development across the Health Board.

Conclusion 3: Agreement must be reached between the Welsh Ambulance Services NHS 
Trust, trades unions and staff at the earliest opportunity on revised staff rosters in those 
parts of Wales for which revised arrangements are not yet in place. The Welsh Ambulance 
Services NHS Trust must, working in partnership with trades unions and staff, put in place 
arrangements to review staff rosters at appropriate intervals to avoid future mismatches 
between staffing and anticipated demand.
35. In Hywel Dda UHB new rosters have been introduced from 14th September 2015. This 

will now follow the Local Development Plan process with roster reviews undertaken 
annually.

36. In Aneurin Bevan UHB the Health Board and WAST’s local joint meeting’s agenda covers 
the commissioning requirement and a joint action plan includes roster improvements and 
exploring ring fencing of certain staff and services that will allow protection of the 
emergency response crews. Examples of this are:

i. Ring fencing hospital car service crews to convey health care professional requested 
admissions to the assessment areas in a timely manner and release the emergence 
crews to attend the 999 calls; and

Pack Page 76



8         
                                               

ii. Joint job description development for ambulance liaison officers to meet both WAST 
and Health Board needs.

37. In Cardiff and Vale UHB local roster changes for ambulance service staff have been put in 
place by WAST in recent months.

38. Betsi Cadwaladr UHB and WAST local joint meeting’s agenda covers the commissioning 
requirement particularly mismatches between staffing and anticipated demand.

Conclusion 4: The Welsh Ambulance Services NHS Trust must prioritise emergency 
ambulance services provision. Work is required to identify appropriate mechanisms for the 
provision of non-emergency patient transport services, and to disaggregate those services 
from the Trust in accordance with recommendation 2 of the McClelland Review. The Trust 
must establish a clear plan for the disaggregation, with identified timescales and costs. The 
Committee expects to receive an update on this plan before it follows up its inquiry later 
this year.
39. Significant work has been undertaken over the last year with WAST working with a range 

of statutory and non-statutory partners on developing a business case that sets outs a 
preferred option for the future provision of Non-Emergency Patient Transport Services 
(NEPTS) in Wales in the future. In October that business case was approved by the NEPTS 
Project Board, the Chief Ambulance Services Commissioner and Chief Executives of Health 
Boards and Trusts across Wales and, as a result, was submitted to Welsh Government.

40. The business case recommends that NEPTS remain managed by WAST but that WAST uses 
multiple providers to deliver the service.  Specifically, it is proposed that local authorities, 
community transport providers and third sector organisations are used, in conjunction 
with WAST, as service providers.

41. The NEPT service will be completely disaggregated from the provision of the emergency 
ambulance service within WAST, with an entirely separate management structure. 
Following a full and detailed options appraisal which considered alternative models of 
delivery, including devolving the service to Health Boards, all stakeholders, including the 
Chief Executives of all Health Boards, WAST, Velindre NHS Trust and the Renal Clinical 
Network agreed that the alternatives represented neither value for money nor improved 
service delivery.

42. A new service specification has been developed by the health community commissioners 
which includes costing and timeframes for implementation. This new service specification 
also includes enhanced services for renal, end of life and oncology patients. At the time 
of writing, WAST and its partners are awaiting approval of the business case from the 
Welsh Government. In the interim, the information below summarises some of the 
initiatives that have been undertaken by Health Boards.

43. In Aneurin Bevan UHB the Health Board holds a separate contract with Patient Transport 
Service to deliver their discharge transport arrangements. Regular meetings occur 
between bed management and the Patient Transport Service to manage and adjust this 

Pack Page 77



9         
                                               

contract. The ring fencing of the health care professional admissions described above on 
page 6 also allows the emergency crews to be available for 999 calls.

44. In Abertawe Bro Morgannwg UHB the following initiatives have been taken forward:
i. Taxi initiative: From the early part of this financial year WAST has utilised 89 taxis for 

the conveyance of appropriate patients to hospitals within ABMU Health Board, and 
therefore avoided the use of highly skilled ambulance crews. This uptake compares 
well with other UHB areas. ABMU Health Board are continuing to promote the use of 
the taxi initiative for any appropriate low acuity calls received;

ii. A new pathway has been introduced for pre-hospital blood tests which means that 
these are now initiated by ambulance personnel, to reduce assessment times upon 
arrival at hospital. This initiative has also reduced the door to needle time of stroke 
patients by 30 – 40 minutes;

iii. Alternative pathways in place for resolved epilepsy, resolved hypoglycaemia and falls 
patients, with 538 patients avoiding hospital conveyance as a consequence between 
April and September 2015;

iv. A review of the access criteria to the Minor Injuries Unit at Neath Port Talbot hospital 
has recently been undertaken. Consequently the standard operating protocol is being 
rewritten and will be re-launched to ambulance personnel to maximise and increase 
the conveyance by ambulance of appropriate patients to this service;

v. The Acute GP Unit (Singleton) pathfinder pilot has been implemented. The acute GP 
at Singleton has access to the ambulance stack and works directly with ambulance 
service attending supported targeted call selection of patients, and visiting these 
patients in their home setting. The aim is to support the patient at home or access 
other community support to maintain the patient at home, thereby avoiding the need 
for conveyance to hospital; and

vi. The close liaison and working between the Health Board and WAST on the 
implementation of the new clinical response model.    

45. Betsi Cadwaladr UHB holds a separate contract with Patient Transport Service to deliver 
their discharge transport arrangements. Regular meetings occur between the Health 
Board and WAST Patient Transport Service to manage and adjust this contract.

46. Following the recommendations of the McClelland Review, Powys teaching Health Board 
has been strongly represented within the NEPTS Board to identify and consider options 
for the future of NEPTS in Wales. The work to explore options for disaggregation have 
now been completed and a comprehensive business case has been drafted. The Board 
also took the opportunity to appraise other non-full disaggregation options that would 
allow a sustainable improvement to Emergency Medical Services performance. These 
have also been detailed within the case.  

47. In Hywel Dda UHB this is ongoing as part NEPTS work stream. In Cardiff & Vale UHB the 
Health Board will continue to work with WAST in its intention to disaggregate emergency 
and non-emergency transport services.

Conclusion 5: The Emergency Ambulance Services Committee, the Welsh Ambulance 
Services NHS Trust and local health boards must work together to reduce the number of 

Pack Page 78



10         
                                               

hours lost as a result of patient handover delays. The new handover policy must be 
implemented consistently across Wales, and any issues identified in the follow up visits 
made by the chief executive-lead on unscheduled care must be resolved swiftly.
48. Ambulance handover delays have reduced in 2015 from the levels seen in 2014 but this 

continues to be an operational challenge in all but one Health Board area. Cwm Taf UHB 
continues to lead the way in managing ambulance handover. The national ambulance 
handover guidance issued in 2014 was not universally implemented across the seven 
Health Board areas. 

49. In Hywel Dda UHB a key focus on lost hours is in place which is reviewed daily. Under 
times of high demand and handover delays, WAST deploy a senior manager alongside the 
Health Board to ensure ambulance handovers are expedited. The handover policy has 
been implemented and currently under review.

50. In Aneurin Bevan UHB the urgent care plan is designed to reduce the delays across the 
patient pathway to prevent exit block from Emergency Department that can lead to 
ambulance delays. An urgent care transformation board has been set up in the Health 
Board that addresses the urgent care pathway across all sectors. Examples have been 
provided previously of a pathway approach to managing patients flow. In addition Aneurin 
Bevan UHB:

i. Ensures early assessment by a senior doctor: Emergency Department consultant or 
Advanced Clinical Practitioners taking calls directly from GPs and scheduling the 
unscheduled pathway for appropriate patients into dedicated slots;

ii. Makes good use of short stay beds for Emergency Department appropriate patients;
iii. Is improving communication with wards (use Vocera person to person calling system); 

and
iv. Ensures use of fast track pathways effectively e.g. fractured hips and stroke.

51. Other local initiatives are the creation of an ambulance liaison post funded by the Health 
Board to be based at peak times in the Emergency Department and facilitate the handover 
of patients and release crews. This was initially run as a Plan-Do-Study-Act (PDSA) cycle 
and significantly reduced handover delays. The Health Board has also introduced the 
handover policy.

52. In Cardiff & Vale UHB handover delays and hospital lost hours have been placed as one 
of the highest priorities since December 2014. The Health Board has worked internally to 
improve its standard operating procedures, and with the Welsh Government Delivery Unit 
to revise its escalation procedures, particularly focused on minimising ambulance delays. 
The graph below shows the reduction in monthly ambulance lost hours for Cardiff and 
Vale UHB in 2015-16 in comparison to previous years. Year to date (April to September), 
this represents a 62% improvement over the same period last year and a 77% reduction 
since the highest peak of lost hours in December 2014.

Pack Page 79



11         
                                               

0

200

400

600

800

1000

1200

1400

1600

Apr May Jun Jul Aug Sep Oct Nov Dec Jan Feb Mar

Lo
st

 h
ou

rs
Total Lost Hours (all sites)

2013-14

2014-15

2015-16

53. In Abertawe Bro Morgannwg UHB compliance with national handover guidance has been 
reviewed with some improvement implemented to improve communication and 
handover, particularly for Red 1 calls. In addition, the Health Board played a major role in 
support of the implementation of the Emergency Medical Retrieval Transfer Service 
(EMRTS) in April 2015. Effective internal escalation is a key component of reducing hours 
lost through ambulance delays, and now includes risk based use of pre emptive transfers 
to wards to reduce congestion in Emergency Departments. 

54. Betsi Cadwaladr UHB’s key focus on lost hours is in place and is reviewed daily. Under 
times of high demand and handover delays, WAST deploy a senior manager alongside the 
Health Board to ensure ambulance handovers are expedited. The Health Board’s 
unscheduled care improvement plan is designed to reduce the delays across the patient 
pathway to prevent exit block from Emergency Departments that can lead to ambulance 
delays. The handover policy is being implemented by the Health Board.

55. As Powys teaching Health Board does not provide Accident and Emergency Services, the 
Handover Policy issues have a limited direct impact. The Health Board has raised the 
potential implications of increased travel time to access specialist services further afield 
as services are rationalised, and it continues to support other Health Boards in their 
attempts to reduce handover delays at their own facilities.

Conclusion 6: The Chief Ambulance Services Commissioner, the Emergency Ambulance 
Services Committee and the Welsh Ambulance Services NHS Trust should urgently address 
the issue of ambulances being ‘pulled away’ from their areas. In doing so, they should seek 
to identify and learn from best practice across the UK. The ‘return to footprint’ pilot should 
be explored and evaluated on a wider basis as a priority.
56. The “Explorer” project is a joint initiative between WAST and Cwm Taf UHB. Explorer 

began in March 2015. The “Explorer” project ring-fences WAST resources based at 
stations within the UHB area for calls within the UHB area. Explorer was designed to 
resolve longstanding poor operational performance in the Cwm Taf area and the fact that 
Cwm Taf resources were often deployed to calls outside of the UHB area and therefore 

Pack Page 80



12         
                                               

not available for calls in their home area. As part of the “Explorer” project, resourcing in 
Cwm Taf was bolstered by some private provided additional ambulance crews. Over the 
course of the project operational performance has improved month on month. WAST and 
Cwm Taf UHB are currently evaluating the financial and clinical outcomes of the explorer 
model. 

57. In Aneurin Bevan UHB the introduction of a protected response to care for 35 patients 
enabled a pilot of retaining crews in their footprint area in Cwm Taf UHB. The initial 
findings were good and the local WAST management team are planning to run a similar 
system in Aneurin Bevan UHB at the conclusion of some imminent recruitment.

58. Cardiff & Vale UHB has supported the ring fenced ambulance approach taken within 
neighbouring Health Boards. In particular, within the Cwm Taf UHB area. While the 
evidence suggests that this has been beneficial for the Cwm Taf UHB area, Cardiff & Vale 
UHB has been clear that this can only work if it is applied regionally and therefore would 
recommend that the approach should be implemented across neighbouring Health 
Boards.

59. In Abertawe Bro Morgannwg UHB recent developments in the role of Morriston Hospital 
as a regional centre has affected ambulance flows out of neighbouring areas, for example 
in relation to vascular emergencies.  There are a number of clinical services which pull 
patients in from surrounding areas to ensure the best outcomes, and this needs to be 
taken into account in the planning and commissioning of services in the future. 

60. Betsi Cadwaladr UHB is actively involved in the development of WAST commissioning 
through the Emergency Ambulance Services Committee and Collaborative Performance 
Delivery Group.

61. Powys teaching Health Board supports any action to limit the negative impact of vehicles 
“pulled away”. The loss of ambulance capability to respond due to the effect of vehicles 
being off the patch is a concern. The Health Board is conscious of the fact that, as they 
border most other Health Boards in Wales and a number of Trusts in England, they are 
both losers and gainers in this respect, with vehicles from other areas also providing 
additional capacity to Powys when needed.

62. In Hywel Dda UHB this is currently under review as part of the integrated performance 
review process.

Conclusion 7: In providing unscheduled care, health boards and the Welsh Ambulance 
Services NHS Trust must take account of the patient’s individual needs. Health boards and 
the Welsh Ambulance Services NHS Trust must ensure that assessment, care and treatment 
are provided in ways which meet the patient’s individual needs, and help them achieve 
their optimum outcome. This should include appropriate use of assessment, care and 
treatment provided in the community, as well as hospital-based provision.
63. Through the collaborative commissioning process monthly data capture on 23 Ambulance 

Quality Indicators is recoded. A key metric is the referral of 999 patients to different parts 

Pack Page 81



13         
                                               

of NHS Wales. Referral rates remain largely static across Wales with around 61% of 999 
callers being conveyed to an emergency department.

64. As shown below there are a number of local initiatives which are being developed.  As 
described earlier in this submission, the National Collaborative Commissioning Quality 
and Delivery Framework has selected several work streams for roll out on a pan Wales 
basis.  

65. In Hywel Dda UHB, through the collaboration with WAST, patients are seen in the 
community either at home or within General Practice. The role of the Advanced 
Paramedic Practitioner (APs) is aimed at visiting the lower acuity calls and there is 
recognition that there was overlap between these visits and those made by GPs. By 
working within General Practice, the Advance Practitioners are able to visit those patients 
before they become an emergency call and are treated where they feel most comfortable, 
usually at home as opposed to a hospital setting.

66. Working collaboratively with WAST from a primary care perspective has enabled the 
following benefits:

i. Increased capacity for GPs in the practice as the APs undertake over 75% of the home 
visits; 

ii. Patients arriving at the practice are triaged and either signposted or treated by the AP 
that day rather than being turned away;

iii. Patients are given an appointment with an appropriate healthcare professional  
thereby supporting the diversification of the workforce;

iv. Professionals building better working relationships where there have previously been 
tensions between GPs and WAST staff;

v. Rapid activation of the APs skills in a way not currently possible within WAST;
vi. Positive feedback from patients; and

vii. Positive feedback and engagement with the Community Health Council.

67. Community pathways are in place to avoid hospital attendance and admission. Further 
work is underway to expand these. The current pathways are being utilised; Advance 
Practitioners are working across organisational boundaries to support appropriate care 
within both primary and secondary care.

68. Aneurin Bevan UHB and WAST have collaborated on a number of initiatives that will allow 
crews to be released rapidly from their Emergency Departments and assessment areas to 
prevent the conveyance of patients unnecessarily through redirecting them into a more 
appropriate pathway. Examples of these include:

i. Physicians’ response unit where an Emergency Department consultant is deployed 
with a paramedic to patients that can potentially be treated at the scene and not 
conveyed;

ii. Joint pathway for non-injured falls patients that allows ambulance staff to hand over 
to another professional who can meet their needs at home;

iii. An Ambulance Liaison Officer at the acute Emergency Departments to facilitate 
handover and release of crews;

iv. Working with nursing homes to encourage end of life anticipatory care plans;

Pack Page 82



14         
                                               

v. Identify, and care plan for, ‘frequent flyers’ which often impact on a number of 
services;

vi. Paramedic practitioners minor procedure training (wound glue);
vii. Alcohol treatment centre; and

viii. Internal diverts between departments in escalation.

69. Cardiff & Vale UHB supports the development of ‘upstream’ alternatives to conveyance 
to hospital. It has been proactive in the development of alternative pathways, for 
example, the development of a direct assess mental health pathway. The Mental Health 
Crisis Pathway was initially piloted in the Cardiff and Vale UHB area. This pathway allows 
ambulance crews to refer patients known to the crisis team directly to a Mental Health 
professional rather than conveying them to the emergency department. This pilot has 
been running for one year. 164 patients were referred to the pathway. 132 of these cases 
resulted in a management plan which did not require the patient to travel to Emergency 
Departments. Patients were referred to community based care or taken directly to a 
Mental Health unit. This is a prudent and clinically effective pathway making good use of 
an existing service.  This pathway has been selected for roll out on a pan-Wales basis. A 
community communications hub approach has been successfully implemented in the Vale 
Local Authority area and is being replicated through a single contact point in Cardiff Local 
Authority. 

70. Betsi Cadwaladr UHB and WAST have collaborated on a number of initiatives that will 
allow crews to be released rapidly from their Emergency Departments and assessment 
areas. This will prevent the conveyance of patients unnecessarily by redirecting them into 
a more appropriate pathway. Some of the initiatives include:

i. The Paramedic Pathfinder has been rolled out to ensure patients are treated in the 
most appropriate setting through formal pathways;

ii. Minor Injury Units are utilised by WAST for appropriate patients;
iii. Treatment Escalation plans for palliative care patients in care homes are being piloted 

and will be rolled out across North Wales once evaluated;
iv. Through the collaboration with WAST, patients are being seen in the community 

either at home or within General Practice. The role of the Advanced Paramedic 
Practitioner has been introduced to provide visits for the lower acuity calls as an 
alternative to admission wherever possible.

v. An Ambulance Liaison Officer at the acute Emergency Departments to facilitate 
handover and release of crews; and

vi. Community pathways are in place to avoid hospital attendance and admission. Further 
work is underway to expand these.

71. In Powys teaching Health Board their approach to unscheduled care is based on ensuring 
that people receive the level of care appropriate for their needs and the Unscheduled 
Care Improvement Plan contains a number of improvement actions that have been 
mapped to the WAST “5 Step Pathway”. 

Conclusion 8: Ambulance services in the medium and longer term must be high performing, 
and aligned to demand. Therefore health boards, the Emergency Ambulance Services 
Committee and the Welsh Ambulance Services NHS Trust should undertake robust and 
effective forward planning which takes anticipated demographic changes into account.

Pack Page 83



15         
                                               

72. Through the Integrated Medium Term Planning process Health Board plans are 
increasingly including developments that link WAST and Health Board activities to design 
services based on need. 

73. In Aneurin Bevan UHB demand and capacity planning has been used to introduce a more 
bespoke response to ambulance demand. A Plan-Do-Study-Act (PDSA) cycle was run last 
winter to provide an alternative response to 999 crews to non-injured falls patients. The 
PDSA failed to reach the expected volume of patients to make it a cost effective approach. 
A review of current data has indicated that this service may be more appropriately 
targeted at two areas of the borough which will reduce travel time, increase potential to 
attend more calls and prevent inappropriate conveyance. A high percentage of emergency 
calls in Aneurin Bevan are related to falls and this adjusted PDSA will be run in the next 
few months. The areas chosen have the higher demand and also are currently the lower 
performing areas within the Health Board.

74. Cardiff & Vale UHB is acutely aware of the need for medium and longer term planning 
aligned to predicted demand. The changing demographic and expected population 
growth in Cardiff features predominantly in such plans. This includes work undertaken on 
the geography and impact of anticipated housing and estates growth, and the need for 
local community infrastructure in terms of health, wellbeing and access to primary and 
social care services.

75. Abertawe Bro Morgannwg UHB is actively involved in the development of WAST 
commissioning through the Emergency Ambulance Services Committee and Collaborative 
Performance Delivery Group and is also planning to be the pathfinder site for 111 in 2016 
which will be a lever to remodel the whole unscheduled care system and consequent 
patient flows.

76. Betsi Cadwaladr UHB works closely with WAST colleagues on commissioning and planning 
of service change when they anticipate changes in terms of demand and demography.

77. In Powys teaching Health Board WAST colleagues have been involved in the Health 
Board’s strategic planning activities including demand and capacity modelling. This 
involvement will continue in both a planning context and as changes to service models 
start to be delivered, in line with the engagement arrangements noted in Conclusion 2 
above.

Conclusion
78. Health Boards are commissioners of primary, community, secondary and tertiary care 

services. As providers, their own services are firmly placed in the primary and community 
setting, reflecting both planned and urgent primary and community care service delivery. 
The Health Board’s relationship with the WAST, as its primary provider of out of hospital 
emergency care, is a crucial one. 

Pack Page 84



16         
                                               

79. Health Boards are committed to continuing to work closely with WAST to ensure that the 
services provided to their residents are of the highest quality, appropriate to need and 
equitably applied, and also that the systems and processes in place within Health Boards 
positively support improved Ambulance Service performance.   

80. The National Collaborative Commissioning Quality and Delivery Framework and 5 step 
Ambulance Service Care Pathway is an innovative model which allows Health Boards and 
the ambulance service to work together to deliver joined up services. 

Pack Page 85



National Assembly for Wales / Cynulliad Cenedlaethol Cymru
Health and Social Care Committee / Y Pwyllgor Iechyd a Gofal Cymdeithasol

Follow-up inquiry into the performance of Ambulance Services in Wales / 
Ymchwiliad dilynol i berfformiad Gwasanaethau Ambiwlans Cymru
Evidence from Welsh Ambulance Services NHS Trust – PAS(F)06 / Tystiolaeth 
gan Ymddiriedolaeth GIG Gwasanaethau Ambiwlans Cymru – PAS(F)06

1

Welsh Ambulance Services NHS Trust: Submission to National Assembly for Wales Health 
and Social Care Committee: Follow-Up Inquiry into Ambulance Services, December 3, 2015

Introduction 
1. The Welsh Ambulance Services NHS Trust welcomes the opportunity to submit 

evidence to the National Assembly for Wales’ Health and Social Care Committee in 
support of its follow-up inquiry into   ambulance services in Wales. 

2. In the nine months since the original inquiry, the Welsh Ambulance Service has made 
significant progress in redefining its purpose as a clinical service at the forefront of 
pre-hospital emergency care and clinical transport.

3. The piloting of a new clinical response model from October 1, 2015, which places the 
quality and clinical appropriateness of care above an often arbitrary time target, 
except in the most urgent of cases, represents a significant opportunity for the 
ambulance service.

4. The new model ensures that high quality, clinical care is the focus of its work, and 
that the anomalies, and sometimes perverse consequences of chasing a time target 
are resolved.

5. In setting out the Trust’s evidence for Committee, we are mindful of addressing the 
conclusions of the initial Inquiry in March 2015, while also being keen to ensure that 
Committee members have a sense of the significant progress made by the Welsh 
Ambulance Service since that time.

6. Similarly, it is hoped that the commitment of the Trust Board in supporting an 
ambitious programme of change, which will deliver long term and sustainable 
improvement to ambulances services in Wales, is recognised.

7. The support of WAST’s partners has been important in the organisation’s 
improvement journey, including staff and trade unions,  health boards, the 
Emergency Ambulance Services Committee (EASC), the Chief Ambulance Services 
Commissioner and Welsh Government. 

8. Detailed below is the Trust’s response to the recommendations of Committee’s 
initial inquiry. Additional information has been included which it is hoped will be of 
interest to Members and will enable Committee to understand fully the significant 
improvement journey underway at the Welsh Ambulance Service as it establishes 
itself as a critical component in the unscheduled and scheduled care systems across 
Wales. 

Pack Page 86

Agenda Item 5

http://www.senedd.assembly.wales/mgCommitteeDetails.aspx?ID=227
http://www.senedd.cynulliad.cymru/mgCommitteeDetails.aspx?ID=227
http://www.senedd.assembly.wales/mgIssueHistoryHome.aspx?IId=012206
http://www.senedd.cynulliad.cymru/mgIssueHistoryHome.aspx?IId=012206


2

Strategic Context
9. The strategic context within which the Welsh Ambulance Service operates has 

changed considerably in recent years.

10. Rising demand for services, a function both of an ageing population and increasing 
numbers of people living with long term conditions and/or multiple co-morbidities, 
coupled with increased public expectation, have presented the Welsh Ambulance 
Service with a number of performance challenges.

11. In addition, pressures on the wider unscheduled care system across Wales have had 
an inevitable contributory effect on the performance and efficiency of the 
ambulance service.  

12. The role of the ambulance service has moved on considerably in recent years. The 
focus is now very firmly on the delivery of a clinical service, at the front line of pre-
hospital emergency care, through to the delivery of appropriate care to the 
chronically and terminally ill who use the Trust’s Patient Care Service to attend 
outpatient services.

13. This is a significant departure from the  traditional model of the ambulance service 
as simply a transport provider and has necessitated significant investment in staff 
training and development to upskill staff ( it is likely that paramedicine will become a 
degree-entry based profession in the future), as well as investment in clinical 
equipment and fleet.

14. Arguably more significant has been the need for the organisation itself to adapt to 
this changing role by developing a more professional, patient-focused culture where 
the needs of the patient are paramount and the ability and confidence of staff to 
undertake more clinically autonomous roles are recognised and supported.

15. The progress which has been made so far in 2015/16 in sharpening the Welsh 
Ambulance Service’s clinical credentials reflects this redefinition process. These 
include:

- the introduction of the Digi-Pen across WAST to record patient records digitally 
and in real time, allowing for better recording and interrogation of data in 
support of WAST’s clinical indicator work

- the introduction of the Clinical Desk (see paragraph 83)
- the development of alternative care pathways in conjunction with health boards 
- the introduction of Paramedic Pathfinder as a clinical decision-making support 

tool (see paragraph 90)
- the new clinical response model, which reflects clinical evidence

16. In a similar vein, it has been important to foster better and more constructive 
relationships with other elements of the healthcare system, for example GPs and 
health boards, in order to work collaboratively as a single team particularly in terms 

Pack Page 87



3

of the wider unscheduled care system, and in developing alternatives to hospital 
admission, which are better for patients and make best use of the available clinical 
expertise.

17. Significantly, ambulance service performance in Wales improved incrementally 
across Wales during the first half of 2015 and, in September 2015, stood at 58.3%, 
up from 42.6% in December 2014 (see Conclusion 1 below).

18. The piloting of a new Clinical Response Model (CRM) by the Welsh Ambulance 
Service from October 1, 2015 recognises the importance of clinical indicators as a 
measure of quality, rather than exclusively time-based targets.

19. The contribution of the Health and Social Care Committee, following its initial inquiry 
into the performance of ambulance services, in creating an environment which 
facilitated change, together with the support and courage of Welsh Government in 
responding to clinical evidence, have been important factors in enabling the CRM 
pilot.  

20. For those conditions where time is a significant factor, for example cardiac or 
respiratory arrest, the new model allows for a rapid response by an appropriately 
skilled clinician. In these circumstances, which the majority of people would 
recognise as being life-threatening, speed of response and clinical indicators are 
both used to measure performance.

21. Where the condition of the patient is such that their life is not in immediate danger, 
the new model allows for an appropriate clinical response which may or may not 
result in conveyance to hospital, dependent on the condition of the patient. 
Performance in these cases will be measured not in the speed of response, but in the 
appropriateness of the care provided linked to relevant clinical indicators.    

22. Indeed, with improved clinical training, enhanced clinical decision-support tools (for 
example Paramedic Pathfinder – see paragraph 90) and the development of more 
community-based care pathways, for example in mental health, it is anticipated that, 
as the new model matures, and the associated care pathways are secured across 
Wales, the core role of the ambulance service, and the way it responds to demand, 
will alter considerably,  creating a more sustainable and clinically appropriate 
platform for the future.

23. Similarly, as the clinical role of the ambulance service becomes more widely 
acknowledged, and the skills of its staff better recognised, it is to be hoped that the 
way in which the service is viewed and used will also shift, resulting in better use of 
resources and, importantly, better outcomes for patients.

24. The piloting of the new model is something which is garnering global interest. There 
is a real sense in the feedback WAST is receiving from ambulance services and their 
staff across the world, particularly via social media, that the ambulance community 

Pack Page 88



4

is willing the Welsh Ambulance Service to be successful in its implementation, 
reflecting, as it does, both clinical evidence and patient need.

25. The formation of the Emergency Ambulance Services Committee (EASC), and the 
creation of the post of Chief Ambulance Services Commissioner (CASC) in response 
to the 2013 McClelland Review, have assisted considerably in supporting the Trust’s 
development, improving the system and creating clearer lines of accountability.

26. While it is fair to say that the commissioning arrangements continue to mature, 
there has been considerable progress since March in forging effective and 
collaborative relationships with the Commissioner and, through EASC, WAST’s health 
board partners. The development of the CAREMORE commissioning framework has 
provided clear structure, standards and accountabilities for the Welsh Ambulance 
Service, but recognises the roles of all elements of the unscheduled care system in 
supporting performance improvement and better experience for patients. 

Findings of Initial Inquiry into Performance of the Welsh Ambulance Service
27. Detailed below is the Welsh Ambulance Service’s response to Committee’s request 

for an update on progress against each of the conclusions of the initial inquiry into 
ambulance performance. This response is intended to inform Members and to 
provide a basis for discussion at Committee on December 3. 

Conclusion 1:
The Emergency Ambulance Services Committee, the Welsh Ambulance Services NHS Trust
and local health boards must work together urgently to improve emergency ambulance
response times and optimise patient outcomes. Performance measures must be clinically
appropriate and take sufficient account of patient outcomes. Therefore the work
announced by the Minister for Health and Social Services to review ambulance response
measures should be rapid, clinically-led, informed by best practice and designed to enable
benchmarking across the UK where possible. 

28. The subject of emergency ambulance response times has been contentious for some 
time. While it is fully acknowledged that, for a relatively small cohort of patients, 
time is of the absolute essence, for example those patients in cardiac or respiratory 
arrest, for the majority of patients, evidence suggests that a time-based response 
based around the eight minute model does not deliver any clinical benefit.

29. During the course of the 2015 calendar year, performance by the Welsh Ambulance 
Service improved steadily to July 2015, with slight dips in performance in August and 
September, illustrated in the following graph (Figure 1) and accompanying data chart 
(Figure 2).

Pack Page 89



5

Figure 1: All Wales A8% Performance May 2014 – September 2015: Performance Graph

Figure 2: A8% Performance May 2014 - September 2015

30. The piloting of a new clinical response model for 12 months from October 1, 2015 
reflects clinical advice and evidence that the use of an out-dated, time-based target 
is not a good measure of performance, clinical care or patient outcome.

31. The development of the new response model has been undertaken very much on a 
collaborative basis between the ambulance service, health boards and the 
Commissioner, working together to develop the new “Five Step Model”.

32. This places much more emphasis on the early part of the patient pathway by helping 
people to “choose well” and ensuring that, if patients do call 999, their call is triaged 
appropriately to ensure they receive the right clinical response, which may not 
always result in an ambulance being deployed but could, for example, mean a 
referral to NHS Direct Wales, GP out-of-hours services or another community-based 
service.
Figure 3: Five-Step Model

Pack Page 90



6

33. Under this new model of care, there are three categories of calls: Red, Amber, and 
Green. The Red calls are still measured as an eight minute response, as these are 
calls where there is a potentially imminent danger of death (e.g. cardiac arrest), and 
there is compelling evidence to support a rapid response to such critically ill / injured 
patients.

34. The Amber calls still require a blue light response, but the emphasis is more on 
ensuring that patients receive appropriate, evidence-based clinical care once the 
ambulance crews arrive at their side. Clinical indicators for the Amber calls include 
compliance with the pre-hospital care bundles for stroke, fractured neck of femur 
and myocardial infarction.

35. The Green calls are the least serious category and, although ambulance crews still 
respond to some of these calls, patients within this category can often be treated or 
cared for by other health providers. A good example of this alternative care is where 
NHS Direct Wales receives direct referrals of Green calls and provides expert nurse 
advisor telephony advice and assessment.     

36. Health boards continue to have a significant role in supporting effective delivery of 
the new clinical response model. This includes minimising handover delays, thus 
releasing emergency vehicles promptly; working with WAST to develop, or facilitate 
access to, alternative care pathways for patients who would be more appropriately 
cared for by a community-based service and in supporting effective communication 
with staff, patients and the public, increasing understanding and helping to reduce 
inappropriate demand on ambulance resources.

37.  Wales’ relatively small size, and its integrated healthcare system, provides the 
Welsh Ambulance Service with a powerful opportunity to link data across the 
unscheduled care system as part of its approach to benchmarking within the new 
response model pilot. Work is underway with Welsh Government on the potential 
sharing of data across the system which would give a wider view of individual patient 
indicators and outcomes, for example, ambulance response, time in A&E, length of 
stay in hospital, procedures and outcome.  

38. In addition, the Trust is currently reviewing its Integrated Performance Report (which 
is considered by the Trust Board at its public meetings and published on the Trust’s 
website) to ensure its contents reflect the clinically-led basis of the response model. 

Conclusion 2
To maintain momentum and work towards a whole system approach to unscheduled care, 
all health boards must be fully engaged with the work of the Welsh Ambulance Services 
NHS Trust through the work of the Emergency Ambulance Services Committee on a 
national level, and directly with the Trust on a local level. 

Pack Page 91



7

Health boards must take due account of the impact on the Welsh Ambulance Services NHS 
Trust when developing new services or considering making changes to existing services. 
Health boards must also ensure that the Welsh Ambulance Services NHS Trust is involved 
in discussions at a sufficiently early stage to enable it to give proper consideration to the 
impact on its services.

39. From a Welsh Ambulance Service perspective, the maturing commissioning 
arrangements with EASC, the positive relationship with the Chief Ambulance Services 
Commissioner and good working relationships between health board and WAST staff 
across Wales, at both managerial and operational levels, represent a positive step 
forward.

40. This change is recognised by healthcare partners and commissioners, which has 
resulted in a more collaborative approach to commissioning and an improving 
relationship between WAST and other partners in the unscheduled care system, 
including in primary care.

41. The Welsh Ambulance Service expects to play a full part in the wider NHS service 
change agenda and is working closely with health boards to develop and understand 
the impacts of service change proposals in Wales.

42. The Trust’s plan for 2016-17 is being developed through a frontline engagement 
exercise within the organisation and the development of Local Delivery Plans.  A key 
requirement for LDP development is that, wherever appropriate, they are developed 
and agreed with health board partners. Examples of this include where pathways are 
being developed at an LHB level or where service changes are proposed.

43. Directors of Planning across NHS Wales are leading strategic discussion to ensure 
alignment of plans at a number of key stages in the planning process. 

44. WAST is engaged in a number of strategic change programmes that will have an 
impact on its services. Examples include the major trauma network development as 
part of the NHS Wales Collaborative and, more recently, the maternity change 
consultation in north Wales. The impact on WAST services of the various options 
under consideration will be picked up as part of the appraisal exercise, with WAST in 
its role as a key partner in the process.

45. The demand and capacity modelling tool Optima Predict, referred to under 
Conclusion 8, will further support the strategic planning agenda in WAST and support 
scenario testing options for service change across NHS Wales

46. WAST is also working closely with the Mid Wales Healthcare Collaborative and is 
providing strategic leadership to two elements of the Collaborative’s work, namely, 
transport and access and communications and engagement, as well as being 
represented at the Collaborative Board by the Chair and Chief Executive.

 

Pack Page 92



8

Conclusion 3: 
Agreement must be reached between the Welsh Ambulance Services NHS Trust, trades 
unions and staff at the earliest opportunity on revised staff rosters in those parts of Wales 
for which revised arrangements are not yet in place. The Welsh Ambulance Services NHS 
Trust must, working in partnership with trades unions and staff, put in place 
arrangements to review staff rosters at appropriate intervals to avoid future mismatches 
between staffing and anticipated demand. 

47. The workforce agenda is of critical significance for the Welsh Ambulance Service and 
one on which the organisation has made substantial progress in the last 12 months. 
Relationships with Trades Unions have improved considerably and there is more 
visible and effective partnership working across the organisation, recognising that 
there remains some way to go to ensure that this partnership approach is embedded 
uniformly across the Trust.

48. Clearly, the effective planning and staffing of rosters is critical to ensuring that the 
ambulance service is able to meet demand. It is equally important that those rosters 
are reviewed regularly to ensure that they remain fit for purpose and keep pace with 
changes in demand and/or staffing levels.

49. The approach adopted by WAST to reviewing EMS rosters has been developed in 
partnership and can be used for ongoing roster planning. The majority of rosters 
across Wales have been reviewed and implemented with, at the time of writing, five 
out of seven health board areas having implemented revised rosters.

50. As a result of the new roster arrangements, hours have been released to support 
staff CPD activity. In turn, this supports the ambulance service’s drive to develop its 
staff and ensure they have the appropriate skills to care for patients appropriately 
and safely.

51. Rosters in the Aneurin Bevan University Health Board area have been prepared and 
are awaiting internal approval by the relevant Project Board. Subject to such 
approval, it is anticipated that those rosters will be implemented by the end of 
March 2016.
    

52. Currently, any further review of rosters in the Cwm Taf University Health Board area 
is in abeyance pending the outcome of the Cwm Taf Explorer project and further 
discussion with the LHB and Commissioners. This will be reviewed in 2016.

53. In terms of future reviews of rosters, WAST is committed to exploring how best to 
optimise its performance and will continue to identify further options through 
workshops and benchmarking with other ambulance services.

54. Notably, the Clinical Response Model pilot presents an opportunity to generate data 
and intelligence to inform future staffing requirements and this is being considered 
as part of the overall evaluation of the model and its impacts.

Pack Page 93



9

55. Similarly, WAST is developing a comprehensive and integrated workforce plan which 
will bring together workforce and financial modelling to set out the likely shape of 
the future workforce, which will assist in planning, recruitment and rostering. 

56. As outlined in Conclusion 8, WAST has procured a system called Optima Predict, 
which will also support the determination of future workforce needs.

Conclusion 4: 
The Welsh Ambulance Services NHS Trust must prioritise emergency ambulance services 
provision. Work is required to identify appropriate mechanisms for the provision of non-
emergency patient transport services, and to disaggregate those services from the Trust in 
accordance with recommendation 2 of the McClelland Review. The Trust must establish a 
clear plan for the disaggregation, with identified timescales and costs. The Committee 
expects to receive an update on this plan before it follows up its inquiry later this year.

57. Significant work has been undertaken over the last year, working with a range of 
statutory and non-statutory partners, including Health Boards (commissioners of 
services), local government representatives, clinical networks, patients and the 
Community Transport Association (CTA) on developing a business case that sets outs 
a preferred option for the future provision of Non-Emergency Patient Transport 
Services (NEPTS) in Wales in the future.

58. In October, that business case was approved by the NEPTS Project Board, the Chief 
Ambulance Services Commissioner and Chief Executives of Health Boards and Trusts 
across Wales and, as a result, was submitted to Welsh Government.

59. The business case recommends that Non-Emergency Patient Transport Services 
remain managed by the Welsh Ambulance Service (WAST) but that WAST uses 
multiple providers to deliver the service.  Specifically, it is proposed that local 
authorities and third sector organisations are used, in conjunction with WAST, as 
service providers.

60. The NEPT service will be completely disaggregated from the provision of the 
emergency ambulance service within WAST, with an entirely separate management 
structure. Following a full and detailed options appraisal which considered 
alternative models of delivery, including devolving the service to local health boards, 
all stakeholders, including the Chief Executives of all health boards, WAST, Velindre 
NHS Trust and the Renal Clinical Network agreed that the preferred option 
represented the best solution and would secure improved patient experience.

61. A new service specification has been developed by the health community 
commissioners which includes costing and timeframes for implementation. This new 
service specification also includes enhanced services for renal, end of life and 
oncology patients.

Pack Page 94



10

62. At the time of writing, WAST and its partners are awaiting approval of the business 
case from Welsh Government. 

 
Conclusion 5: 
The Emergency Ambulance Services Committee, the Welsh Ambulance Services NHS Trust 
and local health boards must work together to reduce the number of hours lost as a result 
of patient handover delays. The new handover policy must be implemented consistently 
across Wales, and any issues identified in the follow up visits made by the chief executive-
lead on unscheduled care must be resolved swiftly.

63. Committee will recall that, at the time of its original inquiry, handover guidance had 
very recently (February 2015) been issued to the NHS in Wales by Welsh 
Government in a bid to support efficient and safe handover of patients from 
ambulance crews to receiving hospital staff. This came in the wake of some 
significant handover delays during the winter of 2014/15.  A total of 27,136.71 hours 
were lost between October 2014 and March 2015. 

Figure 4: Notification to Handover Delays Over Target Time: October 2014 – March 2015

64. The Welsh Ambulance Service has been working closely with health boards and 
Welsh Government to ensure handover delays are kept to a minimum and, during 
the spring and summer period this year, there was a discernible improvement in 
ambulance handover.  A total of 18,033.99 hours were lost between April 2015 and 
September 2015, a 33.5% reduction on the previous six months.

Figure 5: Notification to Handover Delays Over Target Time: April 2015 – September 2015

Oct-14 Nov-14 Dec-14 Jan-15 Feb-15 Mar-15
0

1000

2000

3000

4000

5000

6000

7000

Notification to Handover Delays Over Target Time Lost 
Hours

Lo
st

 H
ou

rs

Pack Page 95



11

65. It is fair to say that there has been some variation in the implementation of, and 
adherence to the handover policy across Wales.  Challenges in handover times have 
re-emerged in recent months and this is now placing additional strain on the Welsh 
Ambulance Service. 

66. Given the importance of prompt handover, both for patients, crews and the wider 
ambulance service, a system of daily dialogue and conference calls between WAST 
and health boards has been instituted at all levels of management, including at 
Director level, to manage situations and resolve issues.

67. In addition, WAST is providing dedicated discharge vehicles through its Patient Care 
Services arm and, in some areas, is supporting HALOs (Hospital Ambulance Liaison 
Officers) to ease the flow of patients through the system.

68. Despite these efforts, problems are more persistent in some health board areas, for 
example Abertawe Bro Morgannwg UHB and Betsi Cadwaladr UHB, and concerted 
effort is going into resolving these challenges, including support from the Welsh 
Government’s Delivery Unit, prior to the onset of winter proper when, historically, 
demand for services is at its peak.

69. It is important to note that, as a rough guide, losing 1000 hours equates to around 
100 shifts of 10 hours in duration being lost to the Welsh Ambulance Service.

Conclusion 6:
The Chief Ambulance Services Commissioner, the Emergency Ambulance Services 
Committee and the Welsh Ambulance Services NHS Trust should urgently address the 
issue of ambulances being ‘pulled away’ from their areas. In doing so, they should seek to 
identify and learn from best practice across the UK. 
The ‘return to footprint’ pilot should be explored and evaluated on a wider basis as a 
priority.

Apr-15 May-15 Jun-15 Jul-15 Aug-15 Sep-15
0

1000

2000

3000

4000

5000

6000

7000

Notification to Handover Delays Over Target Time Lost 
Hours

Lo
st

 H
ou

rs

Pack Page 96



12

Dec-14 Jan-15 Feb-15 Mar-15 Apr-15 May-15 Jun-15 Jul-15 Aug-15 Sep-15
0%

10%

20%

30%

40%

50%

60%

70%

Cwm Taf A8% Performance

Calendar Month

A8
%

70. The Cwm Taf Explorer was introduced in March 2015 to trial a new way of working 
that “ring fences” ambulance resources to their own area. This does not mean that 
ambulances do not leave their home area; for example, they may need to convey a 
patient to a centre of clinical excellence outside Cwm Taf. However, what is 
important is that those resources then return to Cwm Taf to serve local patients, 
rather than being called to incidents outside the area, resulting in depleted 
ambulance resources in the local community. 

71. It is important to note that, in the case of Red calls (in the new model since October 
1; previously Red 1 calls), where there is an immediate threat to life, ambulances 
from Cwm Taf can be sent outside their area where they represent the nearest 
available resource.

72. In addition, the introduction of the Cwm Taf Explorer has resulted in calls 
categorised as “Green 3” healthcare professional (HCP) calls, i.e. calls from a clinical 
professional (e.g. a GP) requesting conveyance for a patient, being managed 
separately, with discrete resources allocated to them in order to reduce pressure on 
the emergency ambulance service.

73. The Explorer project has also encompassed, in conjunction with Cwm Taf University 
Health Board, a shared programme of public education and communication to 
develop understanding of the project and appropriate use of both the ambulance 
service and the wider unscheduled care system.

74. Significant non recurrent investment has been made in the Cwm Taf Explorer and 
performance has seen considerable improvement. In December 2014, performance 
in Cwm Taf stood at 30.6%. By September, this had risen to 57.3%, an increase of 
26.7%.

Figure 6: A8% Performance in the Cwm Taf UHB Area: December 2014 – September 2015

Pack Page 97



13

75. While ring-fencing appears, on the face of it, to be an attractive option for wider 
implementation, the dynamics are complex and there are consequences elsewhere 
in the system which need to be balanced.  It is by no means a “one size fits all” 
solution to performance improvement.

76. The ring-fencing experience in Cwm Taf is providing some interesting learning for the 
organisation and, where appropriate, we are transferring good practice to other 
parts of Wales, for example, rolling out a similar approach to the management of 
HCP (healthcare professional) calls to the Aneurin Bevan and Abertawe Bro 
Morgannwg University Health Board areas. 

77. The Cwm Taf Explorer approach will continue to be reviewed through the Clinical 
Response Model pilot.

78. In terms of learning from experience across the UK, ambulance trusts elsewhere in 
the country do not routinely ring fence resources to particular areas, although they 
do have procedures in place to allow for areas being left without any cover.

79. All ambulance trusts recognise the importance of returning resources to their 
localities as promptly as possible when they have cause to travel out-of-area. The 
key to doing this lies more in the efficiency of the home organisation and the wider 
unscheduled care system than it does in a ring-fencing approach.

80. The priority of the Welsh Ambulance Service is to deliver a clinically safe and 
effective service to all areas of Wales. The ring fencing of resources has to be viewed 
in the broader context of our continued improvements in performance, the new 
clinical model, increased recruitment and improved productivity and efficiency.

Conclusion 7: 
In providing unscheduled care, health boards and the Welsh Ambulance Services NHS 
Trust must take account of the patient’s individual needs. Health boards and the Welsh 
Ambulance Services NHS Trust must ensure that assessment, care and treatment are 
provided in ways which meet the patient’s individual needs, and help them achieve their 
optimum outcome. This should include appropriate use of assessment, care and 
treatment provided in the community, as well as hospital-based provision.

81. The new clinical response model, which is being piloted from October 1, is 
predicated on the importance of sending the most appropriate resource and clinical 
professional to meet patient need, based on accurate triage of the call received.

82. Call handlers now have up to 120 seconds to triage a call to ensure the nature of the 
patient’s condition is fully understood prior to dispatch (the “dispatch on 
disposition”), which allows for more accurate categorisation of calls and thus 
dispatch (or not) of the most appropriate resource.

Pack Page 98



14

83. In some low acuity cases, or where further clinical triage is required, calls can be 
passed either to NHS Direct Wales for advice from a nurse advisor (in the case of the 
former), or passed to the Welsh Ambulance Service’s “clinical desk” for further 
advice.

84. Hear and Treat is a method of determining patient need following initial telephone 
contact with the ambulance service.  WAST’s Hear & Treat Telephone Triage and 
Advice (TTA) model is based on the Manchester Triage System (MTS) tools and is 
called MTS TTA. The aim of the model is to ensure patients are directed toward the 
most appropriate point of care for their health and social care needs and to provide 
telephone advice and support to patients, carers and relatives, along with other 
health and social care professionals who have contacted the ambulance service. 

85. Nurses and paramedics are able to provide a pan Wales, holistic approach to patient 
care and early intervention to improve the patient experience in line with the 
principles of Prudent Healthcare. They also provide clinical support and leadership to 
the non-clinicians who perform a wide variety of roles and functions within the 
Clinical Contact Centre.

86. The outcomes of our clinical desk to-date show a steady increase in the number of 
patients being advised to make alternative arrangements to access an appropriate 
place of care, an increase in the number of patients being advised to see an 
alternative primary care provider rather than go to Emergency Departments and an 
increase in the number of patients to whom self-care advice is provided. This allows 
the clinician to identify higher priority calls more efficiently and ensure the right 
resource is sent in the right timeframe. 

87. In September 2015, WAST’s Clinical Desk triaged 2088 calls. This involved providing 
clinical advice to patients and making decisions around upgrading and downgrading 
of the ambulance service response, dependent on the clinical need of the patients. 

88. In 439 cases, no emergency ambulance resource was sent to the patient, with the 
patients either being discharged/referred, advised to make their own way to hospital 
or having a taxi provided via a clinician on the desk.

89. In September the percentage of calls resolved by hear and treat was 4.32% (of more 
than 38,000 calls). While the numbers are steadily increasing, WAST is currently 
looking at ways of improving the streaming of calls direct to the desk to optimise its 
impact.

90. In order to support paramedics in determining which unscheduled care patients 
require transfer to Emergency Department care, and those who can safely be cared  
for in the community or at home, the Welsh Ambulance Service has implemented a 
new face to face triage model called Paramedic Pathfinder for all paramedics across 
Wales.

  

Pack Page 99



15

91. The Paramedic Pathfinder triage model is suitable for all categories of medical and 
traumatic emergencies, but excludes patients with immediately life threatening 
problems, those on End of Life Pathways and patients with acute mental health 
needs.

92. Specifically designed to support paramedic decision-making, Paramedic Pathfinder 
places patients into one of four triage outcome categories, all of which aim to ensure 
patients are directed to the most appropriate point of care.  These triage outcomes 
include emergency care, primary care, community care pathways and self-care 
pathways for resolved conditions i.e. resolved hypoglycaemia and epilepsy.  

93. Paramedics are developed to administer the pathfinder tools through a self-directed, 
open learning module which utilises a case study based approach.  This is then 
followed by a period of consolidation training facilitated by an approved Paramedic 
Pathfinder trainer/facilitator.

94. The efficacy of the Paramedic Pathfinder is predicated on the availability of 
alternative pathways being available for paramedics to utilise.  The initial 
implementation of the Paramedic Pathfinder provides the foundations for the Trust 
to undertake future work with health and social care to develop community care 
pathways to assist paramedics in deciding the most appropriate care for patients 
who frequently present, and/or are already known to the system. 

95. In addition, WAST is working closely with health boards on either the provision of, or 
access to existing, alternative care pathways, which allow paramedics to refer 
patients to other community-based services that can deal more appropriately with 
their healthcare need or by-pass the need for patients to be admitted directly to 
Emergency Departments, for example the direct admission of patients with an acute 
mental health need to mental health facilities in Cardiff.

Conclusion 8: 
Ambulance services in the medium and longer term must be high performing, and aligned 
to demand. Therefore health boards, the Emergency Ambulance Services Committee and 
the Welsh Ambulance Services NHS Trust should undertake robust and effective forward 
planning which takes anticipated demographic changes into account.

96. WAST is working with EASC to develop collaboratively an approach to demand and 
capacity modelling.  WAST has also procured a system called Optima Predict which is 
currently being implemented. Optima Predict is an interactive strategic planning 
solution for emergency services that provides a platform that enables effective 
planning and the simulation of resource requirements. 

97. Optima will enable WAST to evaluate the impact of demand growth on performance, 
for example, the impact of housing developments; changes to response targets; 
changes to healthcare systems e.g. a hospital no longer accepting cardiac patients, a 

Pack Page 100



16

new hospital, a hospital closure ; how changes to the resource mix impact on 
performance etc. 

98. Optima will be particularly useful for modelling the impact of changes resulting from 
the South Wales Programme and other service change programmes across Wales, 
but it clearly has a wider use for WAST in terms of modelling changes in demand and 
supply and their impact on performance.

Closing Observations

99. While the Trust recognises that the Welsh Ambulance Service has a significant way 
to go on its improvement journey, there is no doubt that it is in a fundamentally 
different place from 12 months ago.

100. Its industrial relations have improved, its reputation with the public, stakeholders   
and, importantly, its staff, is on an upward trajectory and there is a renewed sense of 
optimism and “can-do” within the organisation.

101. There has been significant performance improvement since December 2014, but 
WAST recognises that this is fragile and showing signs of inconsistency. The Trust is 
committed to addressing this robustly, working closely with EASC, the Chief 
Ambulance Services Commissioner and partners across the healthcare community.

102. What is important now is that confidence in the organisation’s ability to improve 
further is maintained and supported, and that the efforts of its employees in securing 
such improvements for people in Wales are acknowledged and welcomed.

Ends/November 2015

Pack Page 101



Concise Minutes - Health and Social Care Committee
Meeting Venue:

Committee Room 3 - Senedd

Meeting date: Thursday, 

19 November 2015

Meeting time: 09.20 - 11.35

This meeting can be viewed 
on Senedd TV at:
http://senedd.tv/en/3324

Attendance

Category Names

Assembly Members:

Alun Davies AM

John Griffiths AM

Altaf Hussain AM

Elin Jones AM

Darren Millar AM

Lynne Neagle AM (Temporary Chair)

Gwyn R Price AM

Joyce Watson AM (In place of David Rees AM)

Lindsay Whittle AM

Kirsty Williams AM

Committee Staff:

Llinos Madeley (Clerk)

Catherine Hunt (Second Clerk)

Sian Giddins (Deputy Clerk)

Gareth Howells (Legal Adviser)

Pack Page 102

Agenda Item 6.1

http://senedd.tv/


Amy Clifton (Researcher)

Philippa Watkins (Researcher)

Transcript

View the meeting transcript. 

1 Motion under Standing Order 17.22 to elect temporary Chair 

1.1 As apologies were received from the Chair of the Committee, David Rees, the Clerk 
called for nominations for the election of a Temporary Chair in accordance with 
Standing Order 17.22. Elin Jones, supported by Gwyn Price, nominated Lynne Neagle, 
who was duly elected.

2 Introductions, apologies and substitutions 

2.1 Joyce Watson substituted for David Rees.

3 Papers to note 

3.1 Minutes of the meeting on 11 November 2015 

3.1a The Committee noted the minutes. 

3.2 Public Health (Wales) Bill: additional information from the Minister for Health and 

Social Services 

3.2a The Committee noted the additional information. 

4 Motion under Standing Order 17.42(vi) to resolve to exclude the 
public from the remainder of the meeting 

4.1 The motion was agreed. 

5 Safe Nurse Staffing Levels (Wales) Bill: discussion on order of 
consideration for Stage 2 proceedings 

5.1 The Committee agreed the order of consideration for Stage 2 proceedings of the 
Safe Nurse Staffing Levels (Wales) Bill.

Pack Page 103

http://www.senedd.assemblywales.org/mgIssueHistoryHome.aspx?IId=1309


6 Draft Wales Bill: consideration of findings 

6.1 The Committee considered and agreed a draft letter to the Constitutional and 
Legislative Affairs Committee.

7 Public Health (Wales) Bill: consideration of the draft report 

7.1 The Committee considered the draft report. It agreed to give further consideration 
to the draft report at its meeting on 25 November 2015.

8 Public Health (Wales) Bill: consideration of the draft report 

8.1 The Committee completed its business for 19 November before the lunch break

Pack Page 104



Concise Minutes - Health and Social Care Committee
Meeting Venue:

Committee Room 3 - Senedd

Meeting date: Wednesday, 

25 November 2015

Meeting time: 09.00 - 12.12

This meeting can be viewed 
on Senedd TV at:
http://senedd.tv/en/3321

Attendance

Category Names

Assembly Members:

David Rees AM (Chair)

Peter Black AM (In place of Kirsty Williams AM)

Alun Davies AM

John Griffiths AM

Altaf Hussain AM

Elin Jones AM

Darren Millar AM

Lynne Neagle AM

Gwyn R Price AM

Lindsay Whittle AM

Witnesses:

Kirsty Williams AM, Member in charge of the Safe Nurse 
Staffing Levels (Wales) Bill

Philippa Watkins, National Assembly for Wales Commission

Lisa Salkeld, National Assembly for Wales Commission

Mark Drakeford AM, The Minister for Health and Social 

Pack Page 105

http://senedd.tv/


Services

Helen Whyley, Welsh Government

Rhian Williams, Welsh Government

Committee Staff:

Llinos Madeley (Clerk)

Gareth Howells (Legal Adviser)

Catherine Hunt (Second Clerk)

Sian Giddins (Deputy Clerk)

Gwyn Griffiths (Legal Adviser)

Amy Clifton (Researcher)

Philippa Watkins (Researcher)

Transcript

View the meeting transcript. 

1 Introductions, apologies and substitutions 

1.1 There were no apologies.

1.2 For items relating to the Safe Nurse Staffing Levels (Wales) Bill, Peter Black 
substituted for Kirsty Williams.

2 Safe Nurse Staffing Levels (Wales) Bill: Stage 2 - consideration of 
amendments 

2.1 Lynne Neagle declared the following relevant interest under Standing Order 
17.24A:

• She has a close family member currently living on a mental health inpatient ward 

2.2 In accordance with Standing Order 26.21, the Committee disposed of the following 
amendments to the Bill:

Pack Page 106

http://www.senedd.assemblywales.org/mgIssueHistoryHome.aspx?IId=1309


Amendment 28 (Mark Drakeford)

In favour Against Abstain

Alun Davies Altaf Hussain Peter Black

John Griffiths Darren Millar

Elin Jones

Lynne Neagle 

Gwyn R Price  

David Rees 

Lindsay Whittle  

Amendment 28 was agreed.

Amendment 29A (Darren Millar)

In favour Against Abstain

Peter Black Alun Davies

Altaf Hussain John Griffiths

Elin Jones Lynne Neagle 

Darren Millar Gwyn R Price  

Lindsay Whittle  David Rees 

As the vote was tied, the Chair used his casting vote in the negative (in accordance 
with SO 6.20(ii)). Therefore amendment 29A was not agreed.

Pack Page 107



Amendment 29B (Darren Millar)

In favour Against Abstain

Peter Black Alun Davies

Altaf Hussain John Griffiths

Elin Jones Lynne Neagle 

Darren Millar Gwyn R Price  

Lindsay Whittle  David Rees 

As the vote was tied, the Chair used his casting vote in the negative (in accordance 
with SO 6.20(ii)). Therefore amendment 29B was not agreed.

Amendment 29C (Darren Millar)

In favour Against Abstain

Altaf Hussain Peter Black

Darren Millar Alun Davies

John Griffiths

Elin Jones

Lynne Neagle 

Gwyn R Price  

David Rees 

Lindsay Whittle  

Amendment 29C was not agreed

Pack Page 108



Amendment 29D (Darren Millar)

In favour Against Abstain

Peter Black Alun Davies

Altaf Hussain John Griffiths

Elin Jones Lynne Neagle 

Darren Millar Gwyn R Price  

Lindsay Whittle  David Rees 

As the vote was tied, the Chair used his casting vote in the negative (in accordance 
with SO 6.20(ii)). Therefore amendment 29D was not agreed.

Amendments 29E, 29F, 29G, 29H and 29I (Darren Millar) were disposed of en bloc.

In favour Against Abstain

Peter Black Alun Davies

Altaf Hussain John Griffiths

Elin Jones Lynne Neagle 

Darren Millar Gwyn R Price  

Lindsay Whittle  David Rees 

As the vote was tied, the Chair used his casting vote in the negative (in accordance 
with SO 6.20(ii)). Therefore amendments 29E, 29F, 29G, 29H and 29I were not agreed.

Pack Page 109



Amendment 29J (Darren Millar)

In favour Against Abstain

Altaf Hussain Peter Black

Elin Jones Alun Davies

Darren Millar John Griffiths

Lindsay Whittle  Lynne Neagle 

Gwyn R Price  

David Rees 

Amendment 29J was not agreed.

Amendment 29Z (Elin Jones)

In favour Against Abstain

Altaf Hussain Peter Black

Elin Jones Alun Davies

Darren Millar John Griffiths

Lindsay Whittle  Lynne Neagle 

Gwyn R Price  

David Rees 

Amendment 29Z was not agreed.

Pack Page 110



Amendment 29AA (Elin Jones)

In favour Against Abstain

Altaf Hussain Peter Black

Elin Jones Alun Davies

Darren Millar John Griffiths

Lindsay Whittle  Lynne Neagle 

Gwyn R Price  

David Rees 

Amendment 29AA was not agreed.

Amendment 29AB (Elin Jones)

In favour Against Abstain

Altaf Hussain Peter Black

Elin Jones Alun Davies

Darren Millar John Griffiths

Lindsay Whittle  Lynne Neagle 

Gwyn R Price  

David Rees 

Amendment 29AB was not agreed.

Pack Page 111



Amendment 29AC (Elin Jones)

In favour Against Abstain

Altaf Hussain Peter Black

Elin Jones Alun Davies

Darren Millar John Griffiths

Lindsay Whittle  Lynne Neagle 

Gwyn R Price  

David Rees 

Amendment 29AC was not agreed.

Amendment 29AD (Elin Jones)

In favour Against Abstain

Altaf Hussain Peter Black

Elin Jones Alun Davies

Darren Millar John Griffiths

Lindsay Whittle  Lynne Neagle 

Gwyn R Price  

David Rees 

Amendment 29AD was not agreed.

Pack Page 112



Amendments 29K, 29L, 29M, 29N and 29O (Darren Millar) were disposed of en bloc.

In favour Against Abstain

Peter Black Alun Davies

Altaf Hussain John Griffiths

Elin Jones Lynne Neagle 

Darren Millar Gwyn R Price  

Lindsay Whittle  David Rees 

As the vote was tied, the Chair used his casting vote in the negative (in accordance 
with SO 6.20(ii)). Therefore amendments 29K, 29L, 29M, 29N and 29O were not 
agreed.

Amendment 29P (Darren Millar)

In favour Against Abstain

Peter Black Alun Davies

Altaf Hussain John Griffiths

Elin Jones Lynne Neagle 

Darren Millar Gwyn R Price  

Lindsay Whittle  David Rees 

As the vote was tied, the Chair used his casting vote in the negative (in accordance 
with SO 6.20(ii)). Therefore amendment 29P was not agreed.

Amendment 29Q (Darren Millar) was agreed in accordance with Standing Order 
17.34(i).

Pack Page 113



Amendment 29R (Darren Millar)

In favour Against Abstain

Peter Black Alun Davies

Altaf Hussain John Griffiths

Elin Jones Lynne Neagle 

Darren Millar Gwyn R Price  

Lindsay Whittle  David Rees 

As the vote was tied, the Chair used his casting vote in the negative (in accordance 
with SO 6.20(ii)). Therefore amendment 29R was not agreed.

Amendment 29S (Darren Millar)

In favour Against Abstain

Peter Black Alun Davies

Altaf Hussain John Griffiths

Elin Jones Lynne Neagle 

Darren Millar Gwyn R Price  

Lindsay Whittle  David Rees 

As the vote was tied, the Chair used his casting vote in the negative (in accordance 
with SO 6.20(ii)). Therefore amendment 29S was not agreed.

Pack Page 114



Amendment 29T (Darren Millar)

In favour Against Abstain

Altaf Hussain Peter Black

Elin Jones Alun Davies

Darren Millar John Griffiths

Lindsay Whittle  Lynne Neagle 

Gwyn R Price  

David Rees 

Amendment 29T was not agreed.

Amendment 29U (Darren Millar)

In favour Against Abstain

Altaf Hussain Peter Black

Elin Jones Alun Davies

Darren Millar John Griffiths

Lindsay Whittle  Lynne Neagle 

Gwyn R Price  

David Rees 

Amendment 29U was not agreed.

Pack Page 115



Amendment 29V (Darren Millar)

In favour Against Abstain

Peter Black Alun Davies

Altaf Hussain John Griffiths

Elin Jones Lynne Neagle 

Darren Millar Gwyn R Price  

Lindsay Whittle  David Rees 

As the vote was tied, the Chair used his casting vote in the negative (in accordance 
with SO 6.20(ii)). Therefore amendment 29V was not agreed.

Amendment 29W (Darren Millar)

In favour Against Abstain

Altaf Hussain Peter Black

Darren Millar Alun Davies

John Griffiths

Elin Jones

Lynne Neagle 

Gwyn R Price  

David Rees 

Lindsay Whittle  

Amendment 29W was not agreed.

Pack Page 116



Amendment 29X (Darren Millar)

In favour Against Abstain

Altaf Hussain Peter Black

Elin Jones Alun Davies

Darren Millar John Griffiths

Lindsay Whittle  Lynne Neagle 

Gwyn R Price  

David Rees 

Amendment 29X was not agreed.

Amendment 29Y (Darren Millar)

In favour Against Abstain

Altaf Hussain Peter Black

Elin Jones Alun Davies

Darren Millar John Griffiths

Lindsay Whittle  Lynne Neagle 

Gwyn R Price  

David Rees 

Amendment 29Y was not agreed.

Amendment 29AE (Elin Jones) was not moved. 

Pack Page 117



Amendment 29 (Mark Drakeford)

In favour Against Abstain

Alun Davies Altaf Hussain Peter Black

John Griffiths Elin Jones 

Lynne Neagle Darren Millar

Gwyn R Price  Lindsay Whittle  

David Rees 

Amendment 29 was agreed.

As amendment 29 (Mark Drakeford) was agreed, amendment 1 (Darren Millar) fell.

As amendment 29 (Mark Drakeford) was agreed, amendment 20 (Elin Jones) fell.

As amendment 29 (Mark Drakeford) was agreed, amendment 2 (Darren Millar) fell. 

As amendment 29 (Mark Drakeford) was agreed, amendment 21 (Elin Jones) fell.

As amendment 29 (Mark Drakeford) was agreed, amendment 3 (Darren Millar) fell.

As amendment 29 (Mark Drakeford) was agreed, amendment 4 (Darren Millar) fell. 

As amendment 29 (Mark Drakeford) was agreed, amendment 22 (Elin Jones) fell.

As amendment 29 (Mark Drakeford) was agreed, amendment 23 (Elin Jones) fell.

As amendment 29 (Mark Drakeford) was agreed, amendment 24 (Elin Jones) fell. 

Pack Page 118



As amendment 29 (Mark Drakeford) was agreed, amendment 5 (Darren Millar) fell. 

As amendment 29 (Mark Drakeford) was agreed, amendment 6 (Darren Millar) fell. 

As amendment 29 (Mark Drakeford) was agreed, amendment 7 (Darren Millar) fell. 

As amendment 29 (Mark Drakeford) was agreed, amendment 8 (Darren Millar) fell. 

As amendment 29 (Mark Drakeford) was agreed, amendment 9 (Darren Millar) fell. 

As amendment 29 (Mark Drakeford) was agreed, amendment 10 (Darren Millar) fell. 

As amendment 29 (Mark Drakeford) was agreed, amendment 11 (Darren Millar) fell. 

As amendment 29 (Mark Drakeford) was agreed, amendment 12 (Darren Millar) fell. 

As amendment 29 (Mark Drakeford) was agreed, amendment 25 (Elin Jones) fell. 

As amendment 29W (Darren Millar) was not agreed, amendment 30A (Darren Millar) 
fell. 

As amendment 29X (Darren Millar) was not agreed, amendment 30B (Darren Millar) fell. 

Amendment 30 (Mark Drakeford) was agreed in accordance with Standing Order 
17.34(i).

As amendment 29 (Mark Drakeford) was agreed, amendment 13 (Darren Millar) fell.

Pack Page 119



As amendment 29 (Mark Drakeford) was agreed, amendment 14 (Darren Millar) fell. 

Amendment 31A (Darren Millar)

In favour Against Abstain

Peter Black Alun Davies

Altaf Hussain John Griffiths

Elin Jones Lynne Neagle 

Darren Millar Gwyn R Price  

Lindsay Whittle  David Rees 

As the vote was tied, the Chair used his casting vote in the negative (in accordance 
with SO 6.20(ii)). Therefore amendment 31A was not agreed.

Amendment 31 (Mark Drakeford) was agreed in accordance with Standing Order 
17.34(i).

As amendment 29 (Mark Drakeford) was agreed, amendment 15 (Darren Millar) fell.

As amendment 29 (Mark Drakeford) was agreed, amendment 16 (Darren Millar) fell.

Pack Page 120



Amendment 36 (Darren Millar)

In favour Against Abstain

Altaf Hussain Peter Black

Darren Millar Alun Davies

John Griffiths

Elin Jones

Lynne Neagle 

Gwyn R Price  

David Rees 

Lindsay Whittle  

Amendment 36 was not agreed.

Amendment 37 (Darren Millar)

In favour Against Abstain

Altaf Hussain Peter Black

Darren Millar Alun Davies

John Griffiths

Elin Jones

Lynne Neagle 

Gwyn R Price  

David Rees 

Lindsay Whittle  

Amendment 37 was not agreed.

Pack Page 121



Amendment 32 (Mark Drakeford)

In favour Against Abstain

Alun Davies Altaf Hussain Peter Black

John Griffiths  Elin Jones

Lynne Neagle Darren Millar

Gwyn R Price  Lindsay Whittle  

David Rees 

Amendment 32 was agreed.

As amendment 32 (Mark Drakeford) was agreed, amendments 17 and 18 (Darren 
Millar) fell.  

Amendment 19 (Darren Millar) was not moved.

Amendment 33 (Mark Drakeford) was agreed in accordance with Standing Order 
17.34(i).

Amendment 34 (Mark Drakeford) was agreed in accordance with Standing Order 
17.34(i).

Pack Page 122



Amendment 35 (Mark Drakeford)

In favour Against Abstain

Alun Davies Altaf Hussain Peter Black

John Griffiths  Elin Jones

Lynne Neagle Darren Millar

Gwyn R Price  Lindsay Whittle  

David Rees 

Amendment 35 was agreed.

Amendment 27 (Mark Drakeford)

In favour Against Abstain

Alun Davies Altaf Hussain Peter Black

John Griffiths  Elin Jones

Lynne Neagle Darren Millar

Gwyn R Price  Lindsay Whittle  

David Rees 

Amendment 27 was agreed.

Amendment 38 (Mark Drakeford) was agreed in accordance with Standing Order 
17.34(i).

As amendment 38 (Mark Drakeford) was agreed, amendment 39 (Elin Jones) fell. 

2.3 All sections of the Bill were deemed agreed by the Committee.

3 Motion under Standing Order 17.42(vi) to resolve to exclude the 
public from the remainder of this meeting 

3.1 The motion was agreed. 
Pack Page 123



4 Public Health (Wales) Bill: consideration of the draft report 

4.1 The Committee considered and agreed, subject to minor changes, the Stage 1 draft 
report on the Public Health (Wales) Bill.

4.2 The Committee agreed to publish its Stage 1 report on the general principles of the 
Public Health (Wales) Bill on Monday 30 November. Although this is later than the 
deadline of 27 November agreed by the Business Committee, the Health and Social 
Care Committee noted that this decision will not have an impact on:

 the timing of the Stage 1 Plenary debate, currently scheduled for 8 December;

 the deadlines for subsequent amending stages, should the general principles of 
the Bill be agreed by the Assembly.

Pack Page 124



 

 

Ann Jones AM, Chair CYPE Committee 

Christine Chapman AM, Chair CELG Committee 

William Graham AM, Chair E&B Committee 

Alun Ffred Jones AM, Chair E&S Committee 

David Rees AM, Chair HSC Committee 

 

17 November 2015 

Dear Committee Chairs 

Finance Committee’s legacy – Budget process and financial scrutiny of legislation 

As part of the Finance Committee’s consideration of its legacy, the Committee is 

reflecting on the arrangements for budget scrutiny and looking at the financial scrutiny of 

bills including the impact of the Committee’s role. 

As you are aware budget procedures will be changing during the next Assembly. 

However, the Committee would be keen to hear your views on the effectiveness of the 

overall approach to budget scrutiny in this Assembly. Members are interested in how 

successful you consider your committee has been in feeding into the process, how 

engaged stakeholders are with budget scrutiny and the appropriateness of timescales for 

the process, particularly those prescribed in Standing Orders. 

The Committee is also keen to hear your views on the effectiveness of financial scrutiny 

of legislation, including how your own committees have integrated financial scrutiny into 

the consideration of legislation and how helpful the outcome of Finance Committee’s 

consideration of bills has been to your committee’s scrutiny. 

I look forward to receiving your views and would be grateful for a response by 8 January 

2016. 

Yours sincerely 

 

Jocelyn Davies 

Chair 

Pack Page 125

Agenda Item 6.2

http://www.assembly.wales/NAfW%20Documents/Assembly%20Business%20section%20documents/Standing_Orders/Clean_SOs.eng.pdf


Pack Page 127

Agenda Item 6.3



Pack Page 128



Document is Restricted

Pack Page 129

Agenda Item 9By virtue of paragraph(s) vi of Standing Order 17.42



Document is Restricted

Pack Page 131

Agenda Item 10By virtue of paragraph(s) ix of Standing Order 17.42



Document is Restricted

Pack Page 132

By virtue of paragraph(s) ix of Standing Order 17.42



Document is Restricted

Pack Page 134

By virtue of paragraph(s) ix of Standing Order 17.42


	Agenda
	2 Follow-up inquiry into the performance of Ambulance Services in Wales: evidence session 1
	Annex A - Committee's original letter
	Annex B - Deputy Minister's response
	Paper 1 - UNISON Cymru Wales
	Paper 2 - GMB
	Paper 3 - Unite the Union
	Paper 4 - Royal College of Nursing

	3 Follow-up inquiry into the performance of Ambulance Services in Wales: evidence session 2
	4 Follow-up inquiry into the performance of Ambulance Services in Wales: evidence session 3
	5 Follow-up inquiry into the performance of Ambulance Services in Wales: evidence session 4
	6.1 Minutes of the meetings held on 19 and 25 November 2015
	Paper to note 2 - Minutes of 25 November 2015

	6.2 Fourth Assembly Finance Committee Legacy: correspondence from the Finance Committee
	6.3 P-04-532 Improving specialised neuromuscular services in Wales: correspondence from the Petitions Committee
	9 Fourth Assembly Committee Legacy: consideration of Finance Committee's legacy consultation
	10 The Committee's forward work programme
	Annex A
	Annex B




